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2023 2024

2018 12 31 50,551,939.00 7,931,599,229 9.12 1,431
2019 12 31 36,019,078.00 5,651,393,338 11.61 1,822
2020 12 31 111,427,243.00 17,482,934,427 15.31 2,402
2021 12 31 163,175,060.00 25,602,166,914 17.89 2,807
2022 12 31 91,585,112.00 14,369,704,073 10.88 1,707
2023 12 31 113,858,626.00 17,864,418,419 16.20 2,542
2023 108,918,697.18 17,089,343,588 13.83 2,170
111,392,388.00 17,477,465,677 14.59 2,289

112,771,306.67 17,693,818,017 15.07 2,364

112,171,916.00 17,599,773,620 15.06 2,363

106,299,026.65 16,678,317,281 14.39 2,258

10 103,363,928.94 16,217,800,451 14.02 2,200

11 112,900,518.88 17,714,001,412 15.57 2,443

12 113,858,626.00 17,864,418,419 16.20 2,542

2024 119,380,203.56 18,730,753,939 16.75 2,628
126,641,994.89 19,870,128,998 17.80 2,793

127,559,746.56 20,014,124,235 18.18 2,852

124,214,406.62 19,489,240,399 17.78 2,790
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2018 12 31 1,739,101,517 8,995
2019 12 31 1,390,992,944 11,126
2020 12 31 2,825,977,115 14,429
2021 12 31 1,738,994,808 16,726
2022 12 31 881,245,877 9,814
2023 12 31 1,049,831,255 13,693
2023 846,881,963 12,171
857,093,273 12,770

849,967,487 13,124

815,282,051 13,023

1,493,900,584 12,383

10 1,447,706,392 12,000

11 1,368,519,953 13,237

12 1,049,831,255 13,693

2024 874,790,845 14,082
819,667,390 14,893

960,768,508 15,125

935,010,640 14,719
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5,640,700 96,692 5,544,008
(5.640,700) (96,692) (5.544,008)
1,577,193 4,018,901 3,102,300
(1,577,193) (4,018,901) (3,102,300)
7,640,129 3,462,516 7,279,913
(7,640,129) (3,462,516) (7,279,913)
5,888,232 4,049,599 9,118,546
(5,888,232) (4,049,599) (9,118,546)
1,782,626 2,482,685 8,418,487
(1,782,626) (2,482,685) (8,418,487)
1,356,049 2,744,719 7,029,817
(1,356,049) (2,744,719) (7,029,817)
205,219 11,868 193,351
(205,219) (11,868) (193,351)
10,956 79,280 125,027
(10,956) (79,280) (125,027)
231,597 160,771 195,853
(231,597) (160,771) (195, 853)
34,383 126,267 103,969
(34,383) (126,267) (103,969)
25,675 39,850 89,794
(25,675) (39,850) (89,794)
62,662 75,787 76,669
(62,662) (75.787) (76,669)
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2023 12 31

TRP
2023 12 31
114,087,527 120,057,234 18,836,980
3,093,799 485,417
236,660 37,132
123,387,693 19,359,529
985,000 154,547
511,354 80,231
216,931 34,036
56,252 8,826
50,866 7,981
27,597 4,330
20,099 3,154
9,459 1,484
8,968 1,407
195,873 30,732
2,082,399 326,728
121,305,294 19,032,801
100,652,371 15,792,357
20,652,923 3,240,444
121,305,294 19,032,801
1,049,831, 255
76,669 13,693
113,858,626
7,029,817 16.20 2,542
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92,216 14,469
92,216 14,469
730,992 114,693
314,889 49,406
64,296 10,088
33,738 5,293
30,651 4,809
16,879 2,648
11,253 1,766
102,482 16,079
1,305,180 204,783
(1,212,964) (190, 314)
(182,658) (28,659)
(805,929) (126,450)
(988,587) (155,109)
45,847,807 7,193,521
85,406 13,400
45,933,213 7,206,921
44,944,626 7,051,812
43,731,662 6,861,498
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(1,212,964) (190,314)
(988,587) (155,109)
45,933,213 7,206,921
43,731,662 6,861,498
5,185,814 813,654
19,470,809 3,054,970
(6,712,577) (1,053,203)
(38,634,415) (6,061,740)
(20,690,369) (3.246,319)
23,041,293 3,615,179
98,264,001 15,417,622
121,305,294 19,032,801
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43,731,662 6,861,498
(9,847,000) (1,544,994)
33,887,001 5,316,870

182,658 28,659

(45,847,807) (7,193,521)

(85,406) (13,400)
(74,702) (11,721)
(8,170) (1,282)
(42,382) (6,650)
2,843 446
7,894 1,239
(1,833) (288)
(9,172) (1,439)
7,380 1,158
21,902,966 3,436,575
24,656,623 3,868,624
(45,006,910) (7,061,584)
(20,350, 287) (3,192,960)
1,552,679 243,615
1,541,120 241,802
3,093,799 485,417
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2023 12 31 2023 12 31
9,814 10.88 1,707
(208) (0.14) 22)
4,087 5.46 857
3,879 5.32 835
13,693 16.20 2,542
39.53 48.90
1,049,831 113,859 17,864,477
1.82 1.12
(1.73) (1.03)
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TRP
2023 12 31
)
99.0
99.0
99.0
4,348,324 T Bowe Price Funq§ SICAV - US Blue Chip 99.0 120,057,234
Equity Fund Class 1
114,087,527 120,057,234
120,057,234
114,087,527 99.0 120,057,234
1.0 1,248,060
100.0 121,305,294
(19,032,800,629 )
2023 12 31

)
13,912 Alphabet, Inc. <A~ 1.6 1,950,194
61,505 Alphabet, Inc. <C~ 7.2 8,687,543
70,904 Amazon.com, Inc. 9.0 10,881,580
58,713 Apple, Inc. 9.4 11,360,893
30,787 Microsoft Corp. 9.6 11,601,019

156.90
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( )

( )

( ) ( ) ( )
- 2024

Citi PB 26,066,056 30 (180,325) 5,376 5,376
. 2024

Citi PB 33,705,038 30 (234,373) 5,750 5,750
. 2024

Citi PB 1,048,066,502 30 (7,241,173) 225,534 225,534
Brown Brothers 2024

A

Harriman & Co. 527,556 30 (75,370,889) (9,406) (9,406)
Brown Brothers 2024

53 53

Harriman & Co. 2,995 30 (427,865) %) 3

236,660 (9,459) 227,201
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NAV
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ASU  2015-07
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236,660 236,660
2023 12 31
(9,459) (9,459)
(9,459) (9,459)
2023 12 31
FASB ASC 740
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267,892 5,313
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4,423,832 28 802,516
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sicav
SICAV us
SICAV 2010 12 17
ucITS
CSSF
&P 400
)
)
) ) )
6,678,889 91,585,112 98,264,001
5,185,814 19,470,809 24,656,623
(6,712,577)  (38,634,415)  (45,346,992)
2,294,542 41,437,120 43,731,662

7,446,668 113,858,626 121,305,294

89,794 8,418,487 8,508,281
62,662 1,356,049 1,418,711
(75,787) (2,744,719) (2,820,506)
76,669 7,029,817 7,106,486
97.13 16.20
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c
ASC 815
1SDA 1SDA
1SDA
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MNA
@
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2023 12 31
236,660 9,459
2023 12 31
(797,203) 85,406
0.28
0.03 2.5 0.25 2.5
0.24 0.22
2023 12 31 314,889 2023 12 31 27,597
0.07 2.5
0.06 2.5
0.05
60,000
0.05
50,000
2023 12 31
30,651 2023 12 31 50,866
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0.015

2023 12 31
20,099

0.03

33,738 2023 12

0.65

730,992 2023 12 31

1,500
0.65
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2023 12 31
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2024 29
2024 2024 29 1,234,786
2,834,708
2024 2024 29 11,635,131
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TRP US CORE GROWTH EQUITY FUND

STATEMEMNT OF ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

December 31, 2023

[Expressed in United States Dallar, unless otherwise indicated)

darrete:

Eryematrn ek s i Underbying Pond, ot Fair value (oot of LS00 114,007, 527) LED 1ML05T 254
Ttk 30937
Uersalind spgraciation an ko rward fore g corminey shangs cartr s 36,650
Tonnl sasets T thaenea
Lighiigizs:

Papablefor invemments purchased a85 oo
Payalla ! or Linite rodeemed 511,354
Acreed distnteorshees 216531
Agorusd professonal fees 56, 252
ol Eumoeinn Sreed sk adenin o' feds 50,866
Antryd m anagom end faey T
anred trustee fees 0.0
LUrdwalred depreciation on fore ard foreign oarency enchange contracts R ELY )
Arorsed agent company's fees 0
A iagd Pt depriEd 195873
Tornl kalties LOAE ¥55
Het Assets Ateributalsls to Unithalder uso 121,305 294
danabyrin of Net Ssiets:

P i capital LED 1H0LB52.A71
Tl etivs it drvengs i datnbutian HLE5Y S
e Asets At bbbl be Unithaldar 50 12 e

Mat Auset Valus par Uit

(B Hedged Ol P 1,045,831 755 + 76,669 Unds oot gandingg S 13693
(SO Clesa LI5S0 LLLBSE626 = TOPRELT Uity conanding] L] 1630

Thie poooa parrymng foted ane an integral part of these findnasl statements,
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TRP US CORE GROWTH EQUITY FUND
STATEMEMT OF OPERATIONS

For the Year Ended December 31, 2023
{Expressed in United States Dallar)
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Tenml | e m anl irdoss
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Totel Eaponses
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Thie poooa parrymng foted ane an integral part of these lindnasl statements,
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TRP US CORE GROWTH EQUITY FUND
STATEMEMT OF CHAMNGES IN NET ASSETS
For the Year Ended December 31, 2023
|Expressed in United States Dallar)
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(LY ]

(B, 712577)
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{20,590 359)
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2. 264003
5] 121305

Thie poooa parrymng foted ane an integral part of these lindnasl statements,
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TRP US CORE GROWTH EQUITY FUND
STATEMEMT OF CASH FLOWS

For the Year Ended December 31, 2023
|{Expressed in United States Dallar)
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Thie poooa parrymng foted ane an integral part of these lindnasl statements,
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TRP US CORE GROWTH EQUITY FUND

FINAMCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

For the Year Ended Decemnber 31, 2023

Selected Per Unit Data and Ratios

[Expressed in United States Dollar, unless otherwise indicated)
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TRP US CORE GROWTH EQUITY FUND
PORTFOLIO OF INVESTMENTS
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December 31, 2023
|{Expressed in United States Dallar)
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TRP US CORE GROWTH EQUITY FUND
MNOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the Year Ended December 31, 2023

ORGAMIEATION

TAP U Core Growth Equity Fund (the “Fund®) it 2 series trust of the: Nilkdo AR Offshore Funds, an open-ended wnit toest
established by 2 supplemental tnst deed dated May 14, 2018 [the “Supplemental Trust Deed”), under the laws of the
Cayman Idands. Nikko AM Offthore Funds was established by a master trust deed dated October 15, 2012 (the “Master
Teust Deed™), uncler the laws of the Cayman slands and is llosnsed with the Cayman slands Monetary Autbority pursuant
to section S[1}{a) of the Mutual Funds Law (2009 Bevition). The Fund commenced operations on June 28, X118,

The Fund's assets are managed on 3 day-to-day basis by Nikko AM Global Cayman Limited (the “Mareger”]. The Manager
delegates investman management duties to Nikks Asset Maragement Co., Ltd., {the “rvestment Manager™). The
Imarstment Manager may delegate responsibility for the management of the investment and re-imvestment of certain parts
of the Fund™s ivestment portfolio to other irrarstment managers. The acranistrateon of the Fund is delegated to Brown
Brothers Harriman & Co. {the “Custodian” and “Sub-Administrator®], a Bmited partnership orgarized under the laws of the
State of M Yook,

The investiment abjectnee of the Fund is to achiese growth n the value of units over the B teem by Ervesting into a fund,
wiiich Irersts mainly in a diversified portiolio of stocks of large and medium sized “blue chip® companies in the United
States,

Under the terms of the Supplemental Trust Deed and the Master Trust Deed, FirstCaribbean [nternational Bank ang Trust
Company [Cayman) Umited (the “Trustee” and the ~Administrator”} is named as Trustes of the fund,

Tha Manager appotnted Mitsubdshs UF) Morgan Ssarley Seourities Co,, Ltd fo act as Agent Company {the “Agent Company™)
il 1o 3ot a8 DEstributor (the “Distnibutor”) of Usits in japan,

SURAMARY OF SICNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Thes Furd i an irnesterent Company that follows the accounting ard reponting guidance in FASS Accounting Sandards
Cocficatinn 926

L of Estimales

The accompamying financia statements bave been propaned in accordarce with accounting principles generally accepted in
the United Seates of America ["LL5, GAAP"). The preparation of finandal statement s in aocordance with U5, GAAP feguanes
the Fund's marsgement to make estimates and assumptions that affed the reported amounts of asets and lishdiies and
dischrsures of contingent assels and liabilities a2 the date of the fnancsl stelemerts and the reporied amourns of
rEvenues and papanses during the repoting period. Actual results, inchading the ultimate amount realized upon the saln of
{air valued irvestenents, could differ from those estamates and such differences may be significar,

Bosk of Accoumding

Seourity and contraciual trarsactions are reconded on a trage/contract-date bashs, nterest income b recorced on an
effectivn yiekd basis, net of any applicable withhaldng tax, Interedt expense and ofher expendes sre frecorded on an acorual
bask. Aealized gains and losses from security transactions are computed on the basis of the average cost of the securities
scld of covered, Charges in the walustion of imestmens e recorded n the Statement of Operations 23 unrealined
appreciation o depredation

Varluetion of imvesiments

Irreisbiriieris i ather Evestisn! companies {"hedge funds”™] ane vwihied on the betis of the Net Auet Value ["8AVT] per
share as reporied by the administrators of those entities 21 the measurement date based upon policies and procedures
sdopted by the Fund. In cases wherne the Furd could in the nonrmael course of business rededm its undaidyang imvesiment,
such invesiements are generally valued at the net avse? valuations proviced by the adminminators of those entities,

I cases where the Fund is unable (o redeem its underlying imestient, such mvestorents in pontfslio funds are also valued
ot the net asset waluations privided by the adminititrators of those entities, provided that the underlying portf oo furds
have caloulated their met assel valuations in scoordance with soourting measurement guidanse which is applecable to
Imymstient companies &g Imaestments within such underkying Ireestmem companies hive beer fair walued in accordarce
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TRP US CORE GROWTH EQUITY FUND
MNOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS {continued)
For the Year Ended December 31, 2023

SURARUARY OF SIGNIFCANT ACCOUNTING POUCIES [ontinund)

Virluwtion of tmarsimenis fooatirued)
with applicable U5 GAAP, uniess the imestment Manager cdetermires that such a valuation would not be the maost
appropriate indicatar of fair value, in which case the irvestment would be {air valued by the Irvesiment Mansger,

In accordance with the authoritative guidance on fair value mesturements and disclosures under ULS. GAAR, the Fund
dischoses the fawr value of its lmvestments ina keerarchy that priceitizes the inputs 10 waluation techriques used to measure
the fair value. The hierarchy gives the highest priority to valuations based vpon unacusted guoted prices in acine markets
for identical asseis or labilities {Level 1 measurement] and the lowest priority 10 valuations based wpan unobsena ble
inpuits that are significant to the valuation {Leve 3 measurement sl The puidance establishes three levels of the fair vabue
hierarchy a5 follows

Lewved 1 = inputs that reflect unadjusted cuoted prices in active markets Tor identical investmerts that the Fund
has tho ability to access at the measurement date;

Leved 2 = irputs other than quoted prices that are sigrificant and observable for the asset or liabdty elther
direcily or ndirecily, inchuding mpauts in markes that are nol considensd 1o be active;

Lisred 3 = inputs that are Sgnificent and unabserable.

Irats are used in applying the varmous vahation techricues and brosdly refer 1o the assmptions the market panicpants
use to make vahiation decheons, nduding assumptions about rsk. inputs may inchudie price infoemation, specific and broad
oredi data, liguicity statistics, and other factors. A fnancial instrumert’s level within the fair valee bierarchy B based upon
the lovest devel of ary input that is significant to the fabr value measwement. However, the determanation of what
corstitutes “observable” recuires sigrificant judgment by the investment Manager. The imvestment Manager consicers
obserable dat to be market data which is readily sailable, regularly distriwted or updated, reliable and verifiable, not
proprictary, and proviced by independent sources that are actively involved in the relevant market, The categonization of a
fimarcial irsbrumsent within the hierarchy ks based upon the pricng trarsparency of the instrement and dees ot pecessarly
correspond 1o the bmestment Manager's peroeived sk of that irstrument,

Ireestmerds whose values are based on the quoted marked prices in active merkets, and therefore dassified within Level 3,
wonld indude actively traced eouities, certaan LS govemnmend and soversign obligations, and certain money market
securities, The Imeestment Manager would not adjust the guoted peice for such instruments, even in situations where the
Furd held & lange position and 3 sale coukd reasonably impact the ouoted proe.

Ireestirems that track in markets that are pot corsidened 1o be adtive, but ane valued based on cuoted marked prices,
dealer quotations or altermaties peicing sources supporied by observable inpats ane classified within Level 2, These include
imestiment-grace deb securities, shart-term imvestments and forward forengn curmency exchange conmtiaciy, As Level 3
imestrents inchude posiisons that am not traded in acthve mardk@s ang/or are subjeos @ trarsfer restrictions, waluations
iy b adjusted fo reflect Eequidity snd/or non-trarsfersbility, which are generally based on pvailable market nformation,

Irrvtstimerds dassified within Level 3 Fuve significant unobservable nputs, 85 they would trade infrequently, Lievel 3
instrumerds weould indude amet-badked securities and collateralized morigage obligations. As chservable prices are not
available for those seourities, the Furd would use valuation tedhnigues 1o desive the fairalue

The inputs or methodology uvsed for valuing securities are rot necessanilly an indication of the risk amodated with investing
i those seaurities,

In accordance with ASU 2015-07, the Furd's irmeestment @0 other investenent companies has ot been calegoriced in the
fair value bivrardhy nov in a rofl forward of irvestment acthity,
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TRP US CORE GROWTH EQUITY FUND
MOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS [continued)
For the Year Ended December 31, 2023

SURARLARY OF SIGNIFCANT ACCOUNTING POUCIES [ontinued)

Virluetion of tmardimenis fooatirued)

Tht following table presents the finandal instruments cardied on the Statement of Assets and Liabalities by caption and by
level within the valumion keerarchy as of December 31, 2023 Furher dassficatiors of the finandal instruments are
presented in the Portfolio of Imestments,

Biats st Fakr 'Valus Fair Value =t
Lovall Leval 2 Lol d B com bar i, 3OS
Forward Foregn Curency
Ewthirpe Conbra § LD - =D I36, 660 LD - [u] P
Total LD = [L5] 335, 660 LD : LED 236660
Lishiimies a1 Fair Value Fair Value o
Leswel 1 Lerwell 2 Lenwed 3 D cam bar 31, 223
Forwsrd Foregn Curency
E:ﬂimfﬂnlrnﬂl S0 - LD l‘}.-IE_B'- LEh = LSO ES lEBi
Yol L] - LED {Base) v = L&D {3459

Curing the year ended December 31, 2023, there were no transfers in or out of Lesael 3 The Funds policy @ o detenming
levelling and assess ol transfers asata year end date.

Foreign Curremdy Tramsietion

Apmets and Rabilities had in ourrendies other than United Stetes Dollar (“US0° or the “Furctional Cumency” | are transdated
Loy et Fureticnal Currency 81 the rate of exdhange peevailing 31 She financial staferrent date Income and expenuss are
tranmsbated at the rate of exchange prevailing at the date on whidh the income or expense ii incurted. Realired and
e eiliped gains snd ksl anising on fonsign currency Drassackions ane induded in the Statement of Operaticns in the
jperiind in whidh thisy oocur.

The Furd does not isobste that portion of the results of operations resulting from changes in foreign exchange rates on
imvestimen s from the Auctustions ariging from changes. in market prices of tecurities held. Soch fMochation ane nduded
with the rt reslived and unreabzed gain of loss from investments.

Income Toxes

Under the cument laws of the Cayman [ands, there ane no income, withholding, capital gains or other taxes pegable by
the Fund, in certain jurisdictions other then the Cayran flands, forsgn taes may be watbheld ot seuree on dividends and
interest received by the Furd. Capital gains derived by the Fund in such juriscictions generally will be emempt from foreign
income of withholding tioces ot source, The Fund intends to conduct ity atfsn sudh thit i will rot be dbject (o moome tx
if airy jurisdiction. As a tesult, o provision for income taaed et been made in the financial dtatemen®. Unitholders may
b 13aed on thew proportisnate share of the Fund's 1ax Basn incorms based an their individusl corcumstinces.

The Fund follres She suthofitatieg guidonce an sotountang for and Ssdiiure of encertainty in tax poditions [Finardisl
Accounting Standards Board [*FASE"] - Accounting Standards Codification 240, which reguires the Manager to determine
whither & tax padition of the fund i3 more Bely than rot o be atamed uvpon examination by the applicable thxing
suthority, induding resohrtion of any related appeaks or ligation proceises, bated on the tedhnical merits of the position.
Far 18 position I‘-ﬁllh'h; the more H" than not threshold, the tax benefit I"H.Qg‘li.l:!ﬂ in the firendgal statements is
mecuced by the largest benefit that has a greater than fifty porcent likelibond of being realized upon wltimate st Hement
with the relevart faxing authority. The Mansger has determined that thire ¥ minimal of fo eFect on the financal
staterrents beirg under thas authoriative guidence.

Forwvd Foreign Currercy Exchamge Conbromcts

The Fund may enter into forward forsign ourency exchange contracts to bedge sgsirmt fomsign currenty enchange rate
risks on all or a portion of non-USH denomirated imvestments of for efficient portfolio maregement purposes. When
entering mto 8 Torward forsgn currency exchange conbrac, the Fund agrees (o receiee of deliver @ fived quaniity of
foreign cummency for an agresdupon price on an agreed future date, These contracts are valued daily, and the Fund's net
euity thersin, representing unreslised appreciationideprecistion] on the comrads os measured by the difference
between the forward farsgn cutrency exthirgs rated ot the dates of ety anto the contracts and the farward fated o1 1he
reporting date, it induded in the Statement of Assets and Lishilities. Realines and unrealiced geins and lodses ane ndluded
i £l Statemer of Dperations,
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TRP US CORE GROWTH EQUITY FUND
MNOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS {continuead)
For thi Year Ended December 31, 2023

SURARAARY OF SIGNITPCANT ACCOUNTING POUCIES [ontinund)

Farweord Fareign Cunneny Exthange Conbroets {rombioeed)

These mstruments ireobve market risk, oredit risk, or both kirds of risks, i excess of the amownt recognized in the
Staterment of Assets and Lishilities. Risks arise from the possible inability of counterparties to meet the teoms of their
corfracts and from movement in currency and secuities values and irferest rates. in addition to tha Cas bevel hedgang,
the: Ffund had realived gain of USD 5313 on 2 forward foreign currency exchange contract during the year with an average
national of LISD 262,852 and an average term 1o maturity of 8 days. The Furd alse had net reallzed loss of USD 802,516 on
43 forward foreign curency exchange contracts held at the JPY Hedged COass bevel during the year with an average
notional of A0 4,473, 833 and an average tem To maturity of 24 days,

Cask e Farergn Currenty
Cashand foreign ourrency comprises all ounmency held with Srowen Srother: Hammiman & Co., and owernight and other short
term placem ents with ot her financisl imstitutions.

IBVESTRAENT IN THE UNDERLYING FUND

Thie Fuend shall prirmarily imaest in sharet of US Blue Chip Eguity Furd [the “Underlying Furd™}, 8 sub-fund of 7. Rowe Price
Furds SICAV, a sodiité dirmestiisement § capial wriable [“S0CAV") established urder the laws of Luxemboung. The SICAY
gualifies 8% an Undertaking for Collective immestment in Transferabde Securities {("UCTS7] under Part 1 of the Luxembaurg
law of ecember 17, 2010 on undenakings for colective irrvestment {the “2010 Law®) and is registersd on the offidal list of
oollective invetirment urdert akings maint sined by the Commission de Suneeillanoe cu Sectewr Finander § 9053557

The objective of the Underdying Fund is 1o inoreese the value of its shanes, over the long term through growth in the value
of its imvestments, by imvesting mainly in a diversified portfolio of stocks of large and medium sieed *Blue chip” comparies
iin the Urid ed $tates

Specifically, the Underlying fund wvests primarily in ecuity and equityrelated seourities of companies that are either
incorporated in the United States of Amenica or conduct most of thesr business there, that have a market capitalisation
eoual to or greater than the companics in the Ruesell Mid-op Index or 5&F Mid-cap 400 index, and that hawe a leading
market position, seasoned management and strong financial fundamentals. Types of securities ey Inchude comamon
stocks, preferned stocks, warramts, Americon Depository Receipts {TADRs"), European Depository Aeceipts ("2 08s") and
Global Depasitony Receipts "GERs )

I seeking, to achievie the Underlying Fund's objective the Underlying Fund may also ireest, on an ancillery basis, in other
eligible securities as described In & s prospectus, this may inchice eligible seourities from other coumries, to more than a
lieated eaterl,

The Underlying Fund may wse derivatives for hedging and efficient portfolio maragament.

The Underlying Fund's finardal statemenis ane prepared under generally acorpted acoounting principles in Lusembourg
and the aoouring policies of the Underlying Funds ame substantially corsisient with thosg of the Func, Units of the
Underlying Fund may be redeemed on ach Susiness Day.

umiITS

Thee net assets of the fund are divlded indo 1PY Hedged Class Units and USD Class Units. The Units are denominated in
Iapaness Yer and United States Bollar, JFY Class Units and USD Class Units ane available 10 an digible irvestor who is any
person, cofporation of entity which is not [i] a “US imeston”™ {as defined below); (8] @ person or entity resident or
domiciled in the Cayman slands (exdiding any object of a dhartable tnost of power of aR exempled O NON-fesiden
Cayrran idands comparsy]; {iil) unable to subscribe for or hold Units without vielating applicable laws; and (i) a custocian,
namines, of trustee fae any person, cofporation o entity cesaribed in (7] 1o (@] above, of such other persons, corparations
o patitins 3% determined from time to time by the Manager, with tha approwal of the Trustes,

Wihile all or substantially all of the assets of the Fund may be held In LS, Gollars, it b Imended for the Fund to enter into
hedging arrangements for the berefit of IFY Hedged Class Unigx, which are demominated in lapaneie Yen. Thoue
arargerants will ba to hedge against acvarse movements of the currency of denomimation of the imestments in the
Series Trust relative to Yero Any profits, gains, losses, oosts, income and expendifure assodated with such hedging
arrangerments will be borne by 7Y Hedged Class Units.
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TRP US CORE GROWTH EQUITY FUND
MNOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS {continuead)
For thi Year Ended December 31, 2023

LENITS: [caetiuen d]

For the year ended Decerrber 31, 2025, the natioral eaposure on the JFY Hecged Class forward currency exchange
corfracts appreaimated the average net assats for JPY Hecged Clivs being net long JFY and shon USE. Open contracts at
year end are discosed in the Portfolio of Imestements.

The Manager may determine 10 issue one or more chisses of Units of the Fund withou? prior natios 1o or written consent of
the Unithalders.

Al of the net assets attributable o JFY Hedged Class Units and LSE Class Linits ane held by one Unisholder,

JFY Hadiged Chaaa S0 Dlmdd Tots Fund

Baience ot Ducember 31, 2023 (=4 EETROEY U0 9L50511F 1RO 96, 268,001
Suber gnn 3 dimag the yew I, EBSBLA 19,870,209 J465EET3
Recdemptions during Lha ee {6.71L577) {36ILALS) {45, 386.582)
et increass innet assets readt ng from operations 2204 542 AL AT 130 A0 FAL 65T
et Aszets ot Decombeer 31 20T R Wi TAd6668 LED 1ILASBENE LAD  BTL30S M
Wumber of Lints i isvue ot Decemiber 31, 2022 09,784 LIRS b 0.508, Bl
Ubries insind dunirg the year BLELT LASE s Lea1e Ty
Uity redeem ed during the yesr {75, Ty {3 Tad T {2020 506}
Humber of Uniti n iz o Decemiber 31, 3023 ThE6H LOFLE1F T 106455
et Astat Vishue pr Lint ot Dagembaer 31, 2020 [5.04] §T.13% UsD 1630
Subscriptions for Usnits

USD Class Units wene subscribed for by Bigble imvestors during the Iritial Offier Perlod a1 the nitial purchase price of USD
1000 per Unit. JFY Hedged Class Units were subscribed for by ERgible imvestors dusing the bnitial Offor Fesiod ot the initial
purchase price of JPY 10,000 per Unit, The |nitial Offer Persod commenced on June 18, 2018 and ended on June 27, 3018 in
addition 10 the subscription price, the applicant shall pay a sales charge miloulated at vp 1o 3% (exdluding any tax
opplicable] of the purchase price, 19 the Disrbulon Thete wene no seles dhadges paid during the year ended December 31,
023

Buring the inftlal 0ffer Paricd, the minimum subscription for USS Class Units per subscriber was 10 Units of more, and in
multiples of 1 Unit thereafier. During the iritizl Ofer Pasad, the minimuem irdial subscription for [PY Hedged Olass Units
jper subscriber was 1 Unit or more, and & muliiples of 1 Units shereafter,

O and after the initial Closing Day, the minimum subsoription for USH (lass Urits per Unitholder b either 10 Units or
o, and in rmuliples of 0L001 Usits thersafer af USD 100, and in miulliples of USD 0,00 thereafter, Dn and after the
Ipitial Closing Cay, the minimem subscription for JPY Hedged Class Units per Unitholdder s edither 1 Unit or mone, ard in
irultiphes of 0001 Urats thereafter or JPY 10,000 and in mulliples of 18V 1 thersafter,

The Marager may waiee of change the minimuem nitial and additional subscription smounts set forth abos i its sole
discretion from time 1o time.

Linrl Redemgiioms

The Fund recognizes redemptions in accordance with the authoritative guidance on distinguishing Kabdities from ecuity,
Redernpitions, whather expressed as United States Dollar, Bpanese Yen of Units, are recognited as Babilit s when each of
the [apannse Yen ard United $ates Dollar Unit amourts recuested in the redemption noticer beromes ficed, which
gererally may ocour ether ot the time of the receipt of the notice, or on the last day of 2 fissal year, depencang on 1he
nature of the recuest. As a result, redemptions pald after the end of the year, bat based vpon year end net assets are
reflecied a5 recemptions payable a1 December 31, 2023, There were USD 511,354 of redemplions payable as at December
31, 2003 inchuded a5 Fayable for Units redeemed in the Statement of Assets and Liskilises.

Repurchase of Units
Urits may be regusnchased a1 the option of Unitholders on each Repurchase Dy {imeans gach valuation Dey, or such other
dayor days as the Marzger may Trom tire to time detenmins in respest of the Serles Trust),

Uratholders wishing to have Units repurchased must send a completed Repurchase Notkce to the Distributor 50 as to be
reveived by the Distributor no lazer thar 300 gum, {Tokyes time) on the relevant Repurchase Day, The Distributor will send
the complebed Repurchase Notices to the Sub-Adminisirator by no later than 6:00 pun, (Tokys time) on the relevam
Reguarchiase Doy of by such other tire 85 the Sub-Administrator may in sny partic ulsr case Setermine
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TRP US CORE GROWTH EQUITY FUND
MNOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS {continuad)
For the Year Ended December 31, 2023

LRITS [caetinuen ]

Repurchace of Units foominged)

1f thit relewant Repurchase Notice Is not recedved by the Sub-Administ rator by the relevam time, the Repurchase Notice will
b held over urtil the next Repar chase Bay and Uniits willl then be redecmed ai the rddevant repurchase price applicable on
that Repurchise Gay, in the evart sither the cay after the relevant Gealing Cay or the day falling two doys after the
relevant Dealing Day i a day on which barks or stock exchanges in lapan are not open for normal business, any
Repurchase Notice receiaed on such Dealing Day, shall not be accepled and instead, wall be accepted on the next Cealing
Gay.

& Repunchase Notice, once given, is inmevocable.

Compalsory Redempiion

Inthe evend that the Trustes of the Marager shall determire that any Units of any class of a Fund ane being held by or for
the benefit of a person who b not an Bigible imvestor for such Fund or that such holcing would cause the Trust or the Fund
1o b required 1o register, be subgest to tax o viedate the laws of any jurischction, of If the Trustes or the Manager has
reason 1o doubt the kegitimacy of the scurce of monies used to fund the subsoription or purchase of such Units, or for
whiatever reason (whach may not be disclosed by the Trustee of the Mareger 19 Unitholders) that the Toustee o the
Manager considers appropeiate at its absolute disoretion having regard 1o the inerests of the Unithokders of the relevant
Class o the Unitholders of the Furd as a whole, then the Marager, after corsuliation with the Trustee, may direct the
hokder theresd to sell (subjac 19 the provisions described beloe in the section headed “Transfor of Urits™] nich Units
within 10 days and prowvide 1o the Trusies and the Manager evidenoe of such sale, failing wiich the Marager may redeeem
such Units,

Tewmrénation of the Fumd
Upstn seemiration, the Managee will fealine 2l the assets of the Fund, and after paying out of retaiving adeguate peovision
for all liabslities properly payable and retairing provision for the costs of the termiration, the Trustee shall distribute the
proceeds of that reslication to the Unitholders proportionately 10 their respective irtenests im the Fund &5 of the date af
termiration of the Fund

Duibribatnons fo Unithokders

The Mansger may, in #s wole discretion, dedare distributions and ro guarantes i made that ihesw will tabe place.
Distribution will be declared anrually on each Disteibution Record Date ard calculated on each Ex-Distribution Date.
Cistribution Pesiod i & period commendng from the calerdar diy follawing the preceding Distribution Record Date and
ending on and incdudeng the Distribution Recoed Date. The distributions will be paid on the relevant Distribation Payment
Dute, promided that such smount {if sny) dedered with respedt to the relevant Class of Units in redpect of the applicable
Distribution Period shall orly be paid oul of the Fend™s pel incoimse, reslized and urreslired capital gains 2nd any
distributabde funds of the Furd attributable to such (hass of Units 85 determired by the Menager.

The dedarstion of diviributions to Unithalders reduces the Class Levd Ket Asset Vabue per Uinit without ary ormesponding
charge in the pumber of Class Lewel Urits per Unithodder, This results in a Unitholeer's overall imvestment in the Fund
beiing reduced, Inaddition, any distributions durding a Sisbribution Period which ane in excess of the Fund™s nit ircresse in
et gasets resulting frorm operations results in 8 portion of the dis i bution beirg return of capital.

The smaurt of distributions, if any, will be detenrened by the Manager in its iobe discretion, and no representation of
guarantes s made that a distribution will be made in respect of cach or any Sistribution Period.

Copilaitzatfon

The Net Asiet Value per Unit i calculated for each Dealing Day [each Vahsation Day, or such oftheér day of days ai the
Manager mray from time to timme deteomine in nespect of the Fund], by ciading the diffenence in value betwesn the Fund's
mssrtsand liabiities (nduding accrued fiees and expenies of the Fund] by the number of Units outstanding.

The Trust Deed stipul that the ber of Units 1o be issued in the Fund shall be uvnlimited a3 the Marager shall

determing and shall be without par value.

CERMATIVE FINARCOAL INSTRUMENTS

Accounting Stardard Codificetion {ASC] 815-10-50 requines disclosures about derivatiie instnuments and hecdging activitees,
1§ requires that the Fund disclose: 2] how and why an entity uses derivatbee insiruments, b) how derbathee irstruments and
related hedged items are accounted for and ¢ how derivathe instrument s and related hedged items affect an entity's
finarcial position, financial performanoe and cash flows,
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TRP US CORE GROWTH EQUITY FUND
MOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
For the Year Ended Decemnber 31, 2023

DERTATIVE FINANCLIAL INSTRURENTS {continued)

Thir Fund trarsacts fonwend deriative mstruments primanly for hecging purposes with each instrumert™s primary risk
exposune being forelgn exchangs rick. The foreard foreign ourrency exchange comracts held by the Fund do not cualify as
hedges for aecounting purposes under the requirements of ASC 815, The fair value of these derivative instruments is
included in the Statement of Assets and Labilitkes with changes in falr wale reflecied as realined gainsf{losses) or nes
charge in unrenkoed 8pgdecistion | depreciation) on derivelives within the Stetement of Operations [Note 2).

Thie Fund eray erfer info an intermational Swaps and Derivative Assodiation, Irc Master Agreement (71504 Mister
Agreeenent”] with its counterparties in orded 1o mitigete counterparty risk. The I50A Master Agreement is typacally
negotiated by the Fund and its counterparies, aontaining 1he bi-lateral tenrs snd conditions Tor all subsequen defivatiag
transactions, The 1506 Maser Agreement allows for the petting of all amounts owed 10 or due Trom coumenpany into a
sirghe ned payment if 8 credit evert or defaul should aceur.

The Fund has dlected 1o not offie fair value receivabes and payables for devivatie contracts on the face of the Stetement
of Assets and Lisbilities,

At Decemnber 31, 2033 the Fung had entered info the folowing derivatiree asiets by counterparty net of amounts available
for offiet under a Master Netting Agreerment [“MNA™) and net of any collaberallreceined by the Fund:

Dierivatioe A vets Diesrbeutives Non-cadh Cath Nk Arm ount of
Counterparty Subject 1o 8 MrA _dvadable for Ofsen Collstaral Becebved Collatersd Recebmd Do rhvathos Arrets
08 PB (] 236660 LI = LD = LED = LHG FE. AL
Total uso ZHREGD WD = o = uso = usp G660

At Becmmber 31, #0133 the Fund had eniered into the following dierfvative liabilities by counterparty net of amounts
available for offset under a MK and net of any collateral pledged by the Furd:-

Mt dmount of
Dl arhoakhos Liabditier Derbatives Hon-caik Cath Dedvative
Counterparty Subject to 2 MM Avallable for Offcat Collatarsd Pladeed  Colfateral Pledgad Lizhilginet
BrewnBrothers Harmen & Co, | USD HARH LISD - LEO = LD = LED 5,455
Total usoD 9,459 USH ] = U5D = USD 5,459
et o coarl ks e Pt e st recaabl e/ payable kom th courterpan v in the event of defaul,
At December 31, 2023 the Furd had em ered inte the following defatives:
i gt Darbotivag Lighisry Darkatims
Cgribrathoms Satement Satament
Mot A oourvied for an of b yats anal of 2 pets and
Hiesthging b trum enfti Linbilied Losatian Falr Vaha Lishifbe Loestian Fair Vilus
Forward forsign ormency  Unnesboed appe i abon Urwramled depraciation
enchangs Lanliacti o lo Ferand Fons g & fprwird {oragn
{Cimrincy Rk curmency mnchange LD TIEED  ourrenty sxcharige LG 9450
crintraer A AF
Th ol st of e vamve indFurnents on the Seatermentof Operatons for the yesr srded Deoamber 31, 2023:
Dt Mot
Acrourted Lecation of Egaliiad Chisrge in Urrgakoed
for 31 Hadging G or {Loaa) Galm or (Loss) Apprecistion or {Depredation) on
Instrum et on Dertvathes on Derhathas Do rieathas
it renized ks on lgrward fonsgn
Forward foreign aorrency  oorrency svchange cordrad
wschange contracts tharge in unreslired appreciation on foreard
Curniney Risk ) Fibii g Surpap i £ L [Is] {797,203) =D B5, 506
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TRP US CORE GROWTH EQUITY FUND
MNOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS {continued)
For the Year Ended December 31, 2023

PAANAGEMENT FEES

The Marager i entitled to receive out of the assets of the Fund o management fee of 2 total of vp to 0283 per annum
(OLE3Y, por annuen in respect of tha fee for the Manager and 0, 25% per annum for the portion of The Net Asset Value upto
A0 250 million, 0.24% per annum for the portion of the Net Asset Value ower USD 250 million wp to W50 500 million and
0.32% par annum for the portion of the Net Assel Value over USG 500 million in respect of fee for the Irmestmant
Manager] of the Net Aviet Value acorued on, and calovlited as at, sach Vabuation Day and payable monthly in anmears. in
addition, the Manager is also entitled 1o be resmbursed out of the assets of the Furd for any eapenses inourred by it in the
proper perfonmance of its powers and duties as permit bed under the Master Tnat Cond.

During the year ended Cecesrber 31, 2023, the Manager carned fees of LSO 314,883, of which LSO 27,537 is still
outstanding a4 of Deaernber 31, H023.

The Manager will pay the feiet of the imvestment Marager out of its fees. The Imeestment Manager will be resporsible for
paying the fees of any of its delegates or other parties appointed by the myesiment Marager 1o perfonm its functions in
respeect of the fund: provided, howewer, the Imaediment Manager may charge a transaction fee on the subscriptions and
redemptions of shanes of the Underlying Fund,

CUSTODIAN AND SUE-ADRIMNISTRATOR'S FEES

The Furd has & custedy and accounting agreement with Brown Brothers Hanimen & Cou [the “Custadian™ snd “Sub-
Agministrator”) for which the Custogian reseioes a fee clloulated and paid monthly based on total assets and ransaction
ol

Tha Custodian and Sub-Administrator is entitled to recedve out of the assets of the Fund an administration fee [induding
transfer agent fee) on the Net Asset Value ascreed on, ard cloulated as ol, each Valuation Day a1 the following anrual
rate

- LOT % up b [ard incheding] LSD 250 mallion;

- LG up o fanad inchucing] S0 S00 milon;

- OLOS% ooy WSSO0 millicn.

Such adiminiviration fee is payable monthly in arrears, amd subgect 1o the minirmum aonual fee of USD 60,000, The Sub-
Administrator 5 also entitled 1o recebve out of the assets of the Furd fees for currency administration and execution
servicid ot the rete of 0.05% per aonum of the et Asset Value of the rdevant Unit Olass, subject 1o the sranimum aneusl
fee of LS 50,000, In addition, the Cusiodian and Sub-Adminisiraior is slso entithed 1o receie customary sofekeeping foes
and transaction charges. All out-of-pocket expensas of the Custodian and Sub-Administrator shall also be borne by the
Fursd, Duging the year ended December 31, 2023, the Custodian amd Sub-Adminisirator earmes fees of USD 30,651 of
wihach LIS3 50,856 is sl outstanding as of December 31, 2003,

TRUSTEE FEES AND ADPINISTRATOR'S FEES

The Trustes is entitled 10 recetve out of the assets of the Fund 3 combaned Tee a1 the ate of 0.005% perarmum of the Nel
Asset Valuee adcreed on, and caleulated as o, esch Valumion Diy and payable quarterly in snfears, subject 1o 8 minirm
anma] fom 0f USD 15,000, During the year ended Decembaer 31, 2023, the Trustes earned fees of USD 16,879, of which USD
20,059 is whill sutstanchng &: ol Deaember 31, 2025,

AGENT CONPANYS NEES

The Agent Cofrpany B entitled o receioe out of the assets of the Fund 8 fes 82 the rite of 0.05% per amnum of the Net
Asset Valoe acoued on, ard calculsted as at, each Valuation Day and payable quantedy in arresrs, During the year ended
Decernber 31, 2023, the Ager earred fees of USD 3, 738, of which LSD 8,968 i il cutstanding a2 of Decennber 31, 2023,
HETRIBUTORS FEES

The Dbtributor is ontited 10 recedee out of the asses of the Furd a fee ot the raie of &S5 per anrum of the Net Asse
Value acoried on, and caloulated as #i, each Valuation Duy anrd payable guarierly in arresrs. During the yede ended

Decernber 31, 2023, the Distributors sarned feds of USD 730,932, of which USD 216931 s still sutstanding as of Decerrber
31, 2023,
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TRP US CORE GROWTH EQUITY FUND
MNOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS {continuad)
For the Year Ended December 31, 2023

OTHER FEES AND EXPENSES
The Adatirstrnar pecenies USD 1,500 per arnun fof FATCA / CRS commpliance services,

The Underkying Fund i entitled to neceto out of e sssets of the Underlying Fund, 8 fee at the rate of 0655 per annum of
the Net Asset Walue of the Urderbirg Furd,

FINARNCIAL RISK MANNGEMENT

The Fund's activities exposs it to a varniety of fnandal risks: market risk (indluding price risk, interest rate risk, and ourrency
risk}, eredit risk and liquiciy risk.

Marked Hitk
Al irvestrents present a risk of loss of capital, The Ipvestment Manager moderates this risk through a carefil selection of
securities and other fi nencial instruments,

The Fund™s imvestment managament prooess i described i Mote L The primary determicent of the funds ability to mest
its obyective of mid 10 long 1enm capital appreciation while saming income is dependent on the performance of the
immstment in the Underlying fund. The fund's owerall market positions are monitored on 2 daidly basis by the Fund's
IrreEstivs el N ager.

Thit values of the Fund's inveaments are affected by a rumber of factors, induding bt not limited to. dhanges in the wader
economy, finandal and currency markets, forekgn ourrency euchange rate s ard imerest rate movements. The Fund emers
into foreard contracts which to warying degrees represent o market risk in eccess of the amount redlected on the Fund's
Statement of Avsets and Lisbilitics. The notioral amouwnt of the foreard contract repaesents the extent of the Fund's
participation in these financial inttruments. Market ritks sssocisted with such forward contracts srite due to the possible
mpemments in Torel g currercy exchange rates undesdhying these Instruments,

Crther market and credit Asks indugle the possibility that there may be an illiculd market for the contracts, that the change
in the value of the contract may not directly corndlate with charges in the value of the underlying currendes or that 1the
counterparty t0 A forwand contract defaulis on its cbligation 1o perform urder the terms of the confract, The Fund's
mgposune to loss due to counterparty non-performance on open futures, forsand foreign curmency exchange, vaap and
oplkans cortracts s Bmited to the unrealized spprediation inherent in such financial instruments which are recognized in
the Staiement of Avsets and Liabalties,

Credit Risk

Credit risk represents the patentisl loss that the Fund would inour i the courterparties, failed to perform pursuant fo the
terms of their obligatesns 1o the Furd, For exchange-traded comiracts, the eschange act4 a3 the countarpanty to spesific
trantactions and, therefore, bears the risk of defivery 19 and from ounterparties of spedfic positiors. The Fund's
I agerend does not cormsicier thal cred risk relsted 1o open derivatioe contracts will ke matediol adverse effect on the
fimarcial condition of the Fund,

athough the Manager moritors the Custodian and believes it to be an appropriate custodian, thene is no guarantes thet
this or army custadien that the Fund may ute from e (o time, will not become msobent, which coul fesd 19 kases for
the Fund.

While both the LS. Bmkruptoy Code and the Securities inwestor Protection Act of 1570 seek to protect customes properny
in the evert of & Tailure, insobeency or Bauidation of an institution, there i2 no certairty that, i the event of & falure of an
institution that has custody of Fund azsets, the Fund would nof inour losses due to s assots being ureailablis for a period
of tirme, ultimetely lest thon full recovery of i msets, or both. Becaute all of the Fund's cash it in cutlody with & snghe
instftution, such losses coudd be sSgnificant ard could matedally impair the ability of the Fund to achieee its irmaestmend
objective. The Fund i subject 1o onedit risk 1o the extent that this institution may be urable to fulfill 25 obligstions to nepey
ST S owed,

Liguvahly Rtk
Irvassibon s should be aware that the value of Units might fall 2 well a4 rse. ioveament in the Fund indlves a degree of risk,
these cam b no assurance that the Fund's irmesiment objective will be adhimmed,

Thie Furs is exposed to daily repurchase of ity Urits but managerment belieses thet the Fund has sofSoer resounces to
meet the privient snd foretecable needs of it einess operations snd, if necemary, the Equidity to fund repurchases and
achitwe & marke! podition appropriately reflecting 8 smaller capitel base. Thit position is mamtored con@nually by
mamagiment to enture that the Furd has the ability to meet its obligations.
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TRP US CORE GROWTH EQUITY FUND
MNOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS {continuad)
For the Year Ended December 31, 2023

TINANCLAL RISK PMANAGERENT [ooninueed)

Liguitily Riek oo

The Trustes, after consultation with the Marager, may suspend the Issuance ard repurchase of units and payments in
respect of sueh transactions in ary cirturrstances whene (the calculation of the Underlying Fund's Net Assat Value per urst
s suspended, The Trustee will inform unitholders of such a suspension 25 soon a5 practicable after & b imposed or Bfoed,
Subsseription applicoleans and repurchase notices carnst be withdrrwn during such suipension and will be processed for
the mext Cealing date. All Unitholders of the Fund will be prommptly rotified in writing of any such suspenson and will be
promptly rotified upon termination of sudh suspenson,

Currenty Rtk

The Unit price of UAD Class Units s detenmined in USD, and the Unit price of 157 Hedged Class Units is determined in lapaneie
Yer while the Furd i denorineted in US, dollars The furd, however, may imst 8 portion, or 8l of, s svsets in other
cumendies, of in instroments denominated in ron-Japanete Yen of noneUS Dollar curendies, the prices of which will be
determined with reference to sudh ron-lapanese Yen o oo LS Dollar currencies. The value of the Fund's assets will luctuste
with laparess ¥en exthange rates a5 well 25 the price dhanges of ks investrments in the wariows local markets and curnendies.

The Fund also may utilite options and forward comtracts to hedge against cunrency fluctustions, but there can be no
assurance that such FEI!@EI"‘ transactions will be eff ectiee, and wuch technigques sntail coats and additional rinks.

The irvestment Mana ger manilors the Fund™s currency exposure on o daily basis,
BORROWINGS

The Manager and/fof its delegates may bosrow manies S0 the excourt of the Fund provided that it will not bofrow money
if, a4 @ vt of such bomawing, the aggregate smount of eutstanding barowings effected on behall of the Fund would,
irarediately following such bofrowing, exceed 10% of the value of its pet assets, siee that this imit may be excesded
tempararily far o pericd not exoeeding 12 morths in specisl situstion including, without imitation, o menger of the fund
with another siries trust, irneestment fund or other type o collective imvestimen) schame,

Thisre wede o bentdvings during the yesr endesd Desember 31, 2023,
CORMITRAENTS ARD CONTINGENCIES

in the normal course of business, the Trustes on bebalf of the Fund may enter Mo contmcs that contain a variety of
represantation and warraries and which prowete general indernifications. The gererl irdemnifications apply nol only 1o
the extnrt such representations and warranties are urtrue bt also may cover thied parties such as the Fund'’s Administrator,
AucHor of Irvesirmer] Mamager for dairs related 1o 1he services performed for the Fund, The Trustiess maxrum exposung
under ary such arrangernents is urknown, as exposure only arses to the extert future daims that bave rot et ocoured ane
e Agairst thi Trustee Howeer, based on experienss, the Trustos apects the ok of loss 1o be remate,

SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

Management performied 8 subtaguert everrd finvigw up 1o May 20, 2004 whish & the dite the firreial 5t atements ware
available 1o be Wsued.

Effective lanuary 1, K124 though May 29, 2024, there wene tubsoriptions of US0 1,234, 786 and there were redemptions
of LAD 2 534, 708 in respect of JFY Hedged Class Units. Thare wene disinbutions of rill in respect of JPY Hedged Class Uris.

Effective January 1, 2024 through May 29, 2024, there were subscriptions of US0 11,635,131 and there were redernptions
of LED 10,120,468 in respesct of USD Clits Units, Thede were distributions of nill in respect of USD Olass Linits,

There are no other sigrificant events o feport 25 thay reate i the Fund,
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2022 12 31
TRP
2022 12 31
137,325,186 97,447,086 15,289,448
1,541,120 241,802
157,201 24,665
99,145,407 15,555,914
259,313 40,686
171,272 26,873
125,568 19,702
48,358 7,587
29,271 4,593
24,754 3,884
17,138 2,689
15,406 2,417
1,833 288
188,493 29,575
881,406 138,293
98,264,001 15,417,622
121,342,740 19,038,676
(23,078,739) (3,621,054)
98,264,001 15,417,622
881,245,877
89,794 9,814
91,585,112
8,418,487 10.88 1,707

156.90
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24,568 3,855
24,568 3,855
823,441 129,198
354,713 55,654
76,010 11,926
38,005 5,963
37,524 5,888
19,007 2,982
12,671 1,988
104,166 16,344
1,465,537 229,943
(1,440,969) (226,088)
(753,688) (118,254)
(1,631,400) (255,967)
(2,385,088) (374,220)

(66,079,544)
322,697

(10,367,880)
50,631

(65,756,847)

(10,317,249)

(68,141,935)

(10,691,470)

(69,582,904)

(10,917,558)
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TRP

2022 12 31

(1,440,969)
(2,385,088)
(65,756,847)

(226,088)
(374,220)
(10,317,249)

(69,582,904)

(10,917,558)

25,675 2,016,818 316,439
1,782,626 24,692,702 3,874,285
39,850 (4,449,035) (698,054)
2,482,685 (32,689,980) (5,129,058)
(10,429, 495) (1,636,388)

(80,012,399) (12,553,945)

178,276,400 27,971,567

98,264,001 15,417,622

156.90
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GAAP
GAAP

ASU  2015-07

2022 12 31

2022 12 31

157,201 157,201
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(15,406) (15,406)
(15,406) (15,406)
2022 12 31
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sicav
SICAV us
SICAV 2010 12 17
ucITS
CSSF
&P 400
)
)
) ) )
15,101,340 163,175,060 178,276,400
2,016,818 24,692,702 26,709,520
(4,449,035)  (32,689,980)  (37,139,015)
(5,990,234)  (63,592,670)  (69,582,904)
6,678,889 91,585,112 98,264,001
103,969 9,118,546 9,222,515
25,675 1,782,626 1,808,301
(39,850)  (2,482,685)  (2,522,535)
89,794 8,418,487 8,508,281
74.38 10.88
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2019
ASC 815-10-50
a b
c
ASC 815
1SDA 1SDA
1SDA
2022 12 31 MNA
MNA
o
Brown Brothers Harriman & Co. 491 (491)
Citi PB 156,710 (14,600) 142,110
157,201 (15,091) 142,110
2022 12 31 MNA
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2022 12 31
157,201 15,406
2022 12 31
(1,632,560) 322,697
0.28
0.03 2.5 0.25 2.5
0.24 0.22
2022 12 31 354,713 2022 12 31 24,754
0.07 2.5
0.06 2.5
0.05
60,000
0.05
50,000
2022 12 31
76,010 2022 12 31 125,568
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0.03
2022 12 31 38,005 2022 12
31 17,138
10
0.65
2022 12 31 823,441 2022 12 31
259,313
11
140,000
FATCA/CRS 1,500

0.65
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TRPUS CORE GROWTH EQUITY FUND
STATEMENT OF ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
December 31, 2022

ressed n United s Dollar, unless otherwise indic
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TRPUS CORE GROWTH EQUITY FUND
STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS
Forthe Year Ended December 31, 2022

J{Exprassed in United States Dollar)
Invesbment Inosme:;
Tostal bt dazaeni 2asen
Expannsr
Custribton'y Snin #haa
Wanagarment fises mani
Cuskadian and subead rmnitratoc's fiss R0
Agent cormpany's fos 3E005
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Kb et P— T 1Y
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et Imvestrent Lostes 13,440,964
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Faaipod g aermiienish
Imvaatmants Sakes of Ledarkgng Fund (73,588)
Foriign currancy transactons and forsand foreign curancy exchange contracts {1531 4000
Biat risaki e boikes L r i i )
Changen waal od aspraaronidepradation)
Irmvisniaia in Lindid ying Furd {65,075
Fowai g curmancy trand ation s and forward fonaign curmendy eachangs Conracts IET
Pt changs in unrealined depreciabion {05, Fop BTy
Biot riaaliosd and chang min uniaatiEed | oasss and dareciation SR Al mnh
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Thd st orm Doy ng nobes iha an inbegral part of theps finan:ial satemantd,

93/191



EDINETOOOO
OO000DO00oDOo00DOo0OooOodnE27078)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

TRPUS CORE GROWTH EQUITY FUND
STATEMENT OF CHAMGES IMN MET ASSETS
For the Year Ended December 31, 2022
{Expressed In United States Dollar)
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TRPUS CORE GROWTH EQUITY FUND
MOTES TO FINAMCIAL STATEMENTS
Forthe Year Ended Decemnber 31, 2022

CRGANIZATION

TRP LS Core Grosth Equity Fund [tha "Fund”] is 8 sedes rust of the Kikko AM Offshore Funids, an open-erded unit st
establishad by a supplemerttal trust desd dated May 14, 2018 (the "Supplamental Trust Deed®], under tha lows of the
Cayman Islands, Mikko AM Offshore Funds was established by a master trust deed dated October 15, 2007 [the “Master
Trust Dewd™], under the laws of the Coyman Islands and is Hoensed with the Cayman ishands Mormtary Authority pursaant
to-section H1)ja) of the Mutuad Funds Law [ 2004 Revigonk The Fund commenced operations on June 18, 2018

Thee Fund's acsets are managed on a doy-to-day basis by Nido AM Global Cayman Limited [ the “Manager™). The Manager
delagstas imvestmant mansgamant duties to Micko Assat Management Co, Lid., [the “investment Mansger®). The
Investrmant Manager may delegate responsiblility for the management of the Imvestment andire-investment of certaln parts
of the Fund's investment portfdio to other investment managers. The admiristration of the Fund is delegated to Brown
Brothers Harriman & Co (the “Custedian” and “Sub-Adrminisratee” |, alimited partnership crganized under tha liws of the
State of Mew York,

The imrestrent ob jective of the Fund is to achi eve growth inthe value of units over the lang termn by imsesting into @ fund,
which invests malnly i a dverdfled portfollo of stocks of large and medium gred “blus chip® companies in the Urited
SatEs

Under the terms of the Supplamental Trust Deed and the Master Trust Deed, ArstCaribb ean international Sand and Trus
Cormpany {Cayman) Lirvited [the *Trustes” and the “Administratcr] isneamed a3 Trustes of the Fund.

The Manager appornbed Mitsubighl UFI Momgan Stanley Seosities o, Lid 1o act as Agent Company (the “Agent Company®™ )
and to st & Distributer (the “Distributer”) of Units in Japan,

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POUCES

Thee Fured B5 an Investment Company that follows the accounting and reporting guidance In FASE Accounting Standards
Codifvatien 645,

Use of Estimates
Thee agcompanying fnamclal stacemen ishave been prepared In accordance with accounting principles generally accepred in
the Unitad States of Amenics (*LLS GAAFT). The preparation of fingncid statementsin aocor dance with U5 GAAP requires
the Fund's manag, it b Mmikes estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and Habdides and
disclomres of contingent assets and |fabilides at the date of the financial staternents and the reported amounts of revenues
and exparies during the reporting period. Actual results, including the Wdmate amnount realiped upon the sale of Falr valued
Imvestrrents, coulld differ from those estimates and such differences may be sigrificant.

Bovir of Accounting

Security and contractual ransactions are recorded on @ Tradefcontract-date besis, Interest income is recorded on an
effective yield basis, net of ary applicable withholding tax interest expense and cther expensesare recorded on an acorual
basis, Reatiped gains and losses from seourty transactions are computed on the basls of the sverage cost of the securities
sold o covered. (hanges In the valuation of frvestments are recorded in the Statermnent of Operations as wvealized
eppradation or dapreciation,

Valuetion of lnvestmants

Fvestrments In other Investment companies (“hedge funds™) are valued on the basls of the Net Asset Value [“NANT) per
shade s reported by the adminisratons of these entities af tha messurermsant date baced upon peficies and procedures
adopted by the Fund. I cases where the Fund coufd in the normal course of business redeam {ts underhying investmant,
such inmvesiresnts ane generally valuad at the net ssser valustions provided by the sdministratons of dhose sntities,

In casers where the Fund is unasbile 1o redesrn its underhfing irvestment, sudh investments in portfelio fund s are alse valued
o the net amet valuations provided by the adrminisrators of those entities, provided that the undedying portfalio lunds
hawse caltulated their net asset valuations in sccordances with actounting San gusdl which is applicable 1o
[restrrent companies . g. Imvestmen tswdthen suich underlying imvestmant companies have bean fafr valued in accordance
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TRP US CORE GROWTH EQUITY FUND
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS {continued)
For the Year Ended December 31, 2022

SUBAMARY OF SGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES [sontinuad)

Vatuetion of Investrnen s [continwed)
with gpplicable LS GALT, unless the Investmant Mansger datermine. that such 8 valuation would not be the most
mppropriste indicator of fair value, inwhich cases the irvestmeent would be fair valued by the Invesement Manager,

n accordancs with the aahoritative guiderte on fair value messrements and disclosures undar LS GAAP, tha Fund
diisciorses the fair value of I'ts imvestrmants in a hierardhy that prioritizes the inputs to valuation technigues used t meawra
the fnir value, The hiscarchy gives the bighest priority tovaluations based upen unadjusted quoted pricesin sctive markets
ler idenitical assets or Eabilives{Level 1 massuremant] s the bowest priceity to valustions basedupon uncbsensable inputs
that are sgrificant po tha valuation {Level 3 mesarements), The guidences establishes thes levals of the lair value hisrardry
5 fodl s

+  Lewsl 1= Inputs that refect unadiu sted quoted prices in active markets for identical investments that the Fund
has the ability to acoeis ak the measurament date;

*  Lewel 1 = Inputs ot than quoted prices that are significant and coservable for the asset or Fability either
directly or indrectly, Including Inputs in markets that arenot considered to be active;

= Lewsl 3—inputs that are sgreficant sndunobssrvable,

nputs are used in applying the various valuation techniques and broady reler to the sssumptions that market participants
e po Mk valuaton decison s, induding sssemp Gons about risk nputs may includs price information, specific and broad
oredit data, liquidity statistics, and othar factors. A finandal instrument's level within the fair value hierarchy is bised upon
the lowest lavel of ary input that is sgnificant 1o the Tar value masurement, Howsyer, the determination of witet
constinutes “observable” requires signifizant judgment by the Immestrment Manager. The Investment Manager considaers
cbsarvable data to be marker dats which is readily svalable, ragul sty distributed or updared, reliable and veriSable, not
propeieany, and provided by independent sources that are actively irvolved in the relavant market. The categonination of a
Firsancial instrument withén the herarchy s based upon the pricing transparency of the Instrument and d oes nok nescessarly
corraspond [0 the irvestrmeent Manager s perosived riscof thal instrument,

Erpastrreans oot valu es ans based on the quoted markat prices in sctive markers, and therafor e class fiad withen Level 1,
weotd include actively traded sguities, osrtain LS government and sovarsign cbligations, and certain monay market
searitien The investment Manager would not adjust the quoted price for mech instruments, even in stuations where the
Fund held alarge postion and a sale could ressonably impact the quoted price.

Ivestrrants that trade in markets that & not considersd to be active, but are valwed bated on quoted mardket prices,
dealer quotations or altarmative pricing sounces supparbed by observable inputs are clossifed within Level 2. Thesa include
Imvestrrentgrade debt ssorties, short-term imvestments and forward foreign cummency exchange contracts. As Level 2
rvestmeants include positions that are not raded In active markets andfor ane subject to transfer restrictions, valuations
rriny bee acfuisted toreflect illiguidity andfor non-transfer sbility, which are generally based on svslable market information,

vestroents dassified within Level 3 have signifcant uncbseresble inputs, as they would trade infrequently. Level 3
instrurments would indude asset-badosd securides and collateralized mortgage cbiigations. As obsenable prices are not
avalinble for thoss securities, the Fund would use valustion tachnigues b derive the Eair value,

The inputs or methodaogy used for waluing securities are not necessanly an indication of the risk associated with investing
fn those sacurities

I meondancos with ASL 200507, the Furd' simvestrment in other investment companies hasmot been categorized in the Tar
walie hiararchy nee in aroll forwerd of investrment acthity.
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TRP US CORE GROWTH EQUITY FUND
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS {continued)
For the Year Ended December 31, 2022

SUBAMARY OF SGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES [sontinuad)

Vatuetion of Investnen s [continwed)

The followiing tabl e prasants the finandal instruments carried on the Statermant of Assats snd Lisbilites by caption and by
el withen the valuation hisrarchy 8s of Decernber 31, 2022, Further classifications of the fnareid instruments are
presantad in the Portfalicof vestmenta

Anpes 5t Palr Value Fair value &
breell Lrveld Level 3 Beensher 33, 3077
Forward Forasgn Tumency
Ewchange Conkracts v - st 157,201 L5t - 157,20
Tetal [ - UsD 157,200 5D - =5 157,20
Liakilities ot Fair Value Fale Value 2
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Oecensber 11, 3087
Forward Foregn Cumency
Lazhange Confirachy LD - LD §15,008) B0 - LD 15,008]
Tokal [ = (7] [ ) - D (5Am

During thieyear ended December 31, 2002, there ware no trarsfars in of cut of Level 3, The Fund's policy is to determing
Il el Assess o Irarsiers 84 8t & year end date,

Farsign Curréncy Translotion

#ussets and llabiEdes hald in currencies cther than Linited States Dollar (LIS07 o the “Functional Curmency™) ane rramiated
to the Functional Currency &t the rate of axchangs prevailing ot the finarcidl statement date, income and expenses are
trandatad at the rate of smchang s prevaling at the date cnwhich the imcorne or Sxpenses i3 imcurred, Reaized and unrealized
pins and | ogses arising on forsign currendy ransactions are induded in the Staterment of Jperationsin the period in which
thay ot

The Fund doss ot fsclabe thet portion of the results of aperations resulting from changes in forsign smcharge rastes on
[rmuestrrants from the fluctuations arising from dhang s in market prices of sacurities held. Such fuctuations are induded
with tha et realiped ared wneeslized gain o | o fom imsestments,

lncome Toxes

Under the currenit lows of the Coyeman [dands, thare ane nolnoorme, withholding, capital gaing or other tees payabla by the
Fund, In certdin jurisdictions ather than the Cryman |diands, forsign taoes may be withhald ar source on dhddends and
[nberess recaivad by the Fund, Capital gains derived by tha Fund In such jelsdiction s generally will be exemnar from foreign
income o withholding tioes 8t source, The Fund intends to conduct its affairs such that it will not be subjact to incorms tax
i army perisdiction, As 8 reslt, no prodsion for income thees his been made in the nancal seerments, Unithalders may
be timed on thar proparticonsbe shire of the Fund's tie bass intome based on thar indiyi dusl drcurmstind e,

The Fund follows the authoritative gudance on acmunting for and disclcsre of uncertainty in i positions {Fnancia
Accounting Standards Board (FASE) - Accounting Standards CodlEcation Ta0), which reguires the Manager to determine
whether a tim podiion of the Fund is more likely than not to be sustained upon examination by the spplicable taxing
muthority, Including resclution of any refated appeals or litigation processes, based on the technical merits of the positon.
For e poditions meeting the more Exely than net threshold, the taxe bensfit recogrized in the financal statements is
reduced by the langest bene Rt that has a greater than fifty percent likelfrood of being realized upon ultimate setdement
with the relesant tiadng muthority. The Manager has determined chay there Is minimal or no effect on the fnancial
seanarnenis being under this auth orthlive guidance,

Forword Foreign Currenry Exchange Controcty

The Fund rmay enter into forwand foreign currency enchange contracts to hedge spainst foreign ourrency sxchings rate riskcs
on al or a porton of non-US0 dencminated irvestments or for gffident portficii o management purposes, When entering
into & forward foreign arrency exchange contrack, the Fund agrees toreceive or daliver a fived quantityof foreign curmency
for an agreed-upon price on an agreed future date. These contracts are walued dally, and the Fund's net equity therein,
representing unrealized sppreciationf[depredation] on the contracts as measmerad by the difference between the forwand
erE%I‘I arrancy exchings rates at the dates of eniry into the contrac s and the forward rates o1 the repocting date, is
inchuded in the Staternent of Assets and Uabilities. Realized and unredized gains and lostes are induded in the Statement
of Cperations,
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TRP US CORE GROWTH EQUITY FUND
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS {continued)
For the Year Ended December 31, 2022

SUBAMARY OF SGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES [sontinuad)

Thesainstrurmentsimcive marketrisk oredit sk, orbothkinds of rigks, inexcess of the amcunt recognizedin the Statement
of Assets and Uabilites Riskcs arise from the possible inability of counterparties to meet the tenms of their contracts and
from movermant in cumency and seiurities valpes and interast rates. In addition to the O [evel hadging, the Fund had
reized lowsof US04 448 on 1 forward forelgn ouerency eschange contract during the year with an average notional of LED
71,507 and an avarage tenm (o matunity of 3 days, The Fund had net realized loss.of USD 1,631,112 on 46 forward foreign
currency euchange contracts held at the 1PY Hedged Class level during the year with an average notional of USD4,894,181
ol i awerag e berm to mabuniny of 17 days,

Ceph snd Fors go Correns’
Cachy s Foeaign ou rrency comprises ol cumancy hald with Brown Brothers Harriman & Co,, sed avsrmight and other short
term placements with cther finamcial imssitutions,

INVESTMENT IN THE UNDERLY IN GFUND

Tha Furd shall primarily irvest in shares of LS Blue Ohip Equity Fund jthe “Underiying Fund®), a sub-fund of T, Rowe Price
Funds SICAV, & soddtd dlinvestisserment b capital variable (*SICAV] establishad under the laws of Lusernbourg. The SICAY
qualifies a5 an Undertadng fior Collective imvestrment In Transferable Securities [ "UCITS®) under Part 1 of the Lunembourg
low of Decernbar 17, 2000 on wnder takdrg s for collesctive irmestroent {the *2010 Law™) and isregistered on the offical st of
collective inveshrent under taldng s maintained by the Commission de Surwelllance du Sectewr Fnander (*29597)

The ohjective of the Underlying Fund I5 toinorease the vale of its shares, over the long term through growth in the vahue
of it imsastments, by imvesting mainly in & dverdSed portatio of stacks of large and miadium sived "blus chip® companies
i the Uinited Stanes,

Spedfically, the Undedying Fund Imeests primarity in equity and equityrdated secudties of companies that are dther
incorporated in the United States of America or conduct most of their business there, that have a market capitalisation
egual toor greater than the companies in the Russell Mid-cap Index or SEF Mid-cap 400 index, and that have a leading
rrarkar position, seasoned managemant end sirong Fnancal fundamentals. Types of secunites mirginciuds comrenon stocks,
preferred stocks, warrants, American Depository Recelpts [“ADRS®), Eurcpean Depository Recelprs [(EDAS") and Global
Depository Recsipts (*GDRT),

I ewling 10 achieve the Underbdng Fund's chjective the Underlying Furd may also frvest, on an andllary bas's, in other
ofgible securities a5 descrited in its prospectus, this may include eligible securitdes from other countries, to mone than a
lirrdted extent

The Underlying, Fund mary use derivatives for hedging and ¢ffident portfolio management.

The Underlying Fund's finandal staterments are prepared under generally accepted accounting principles in Luxembourg
and the accounting polides of the Uinderhding Funds are substantially consistent with those of the Fund, Units of the
Undertying Fund may be redeerned on each Busness Day.

UNITS

Tha net assets of the Fund are dividad Into JPY Hedged Olass Urits and LSO Oass Units, The Units are denominated in
laparass Yen and Undted States Dolfar, JPY Class Urits and LSO Class Units are svaiable to an aligitle imvestor wha s amy
parson, corpaoration or sntipwhichisnot §i) 8 "US Investors” jasdalined balow); (i @ person of entity residentor domicled
in the Cayrnan (dands {excluding any chject of a charitable trust or power or an exempted or noneresident Cayman isands
eampanyl: (il unable 1o subseribe for or hald Urits without vislating applicable tews; and [ 8 custodian, nominee, or
trustese for any person, corporation or entity desoribed in i} to {iil) abowve, o such other persong, coporations o entities as
deterrmined from time to Hrme by the Manager, with the spproval of the Trustes,

Whily all or substantially all of the apsets of the Fund may be held in LS Dollars, Tt is intended for the Fund to enter into
hedging arangaments for the benafit of JPY Hadged Oess Urdts, which are dencminated in lapaness Yen, Those
arangarrentswil be to hadge agairst adverse movemenis of the curency of denomination of the investments I the Serles
Trust ralative to Fan, Ay profits, gans, losses, costs, inctene and smpanditure associsted with such hedging arrangements
will bebomeby IPY Hedged Oass Units,
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TRP US CORE GROWTH EQUITY FUND
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS {continued)
For the Year Ended December 31, 2022

UNITS [2entinu b

Fer theyear ended Decamber 11, 2022, thanetional exposure on the I PY Hedged Oass forward eurrency exchargs contracts
approaimated the averags nat atsets for IPY Hedgad Olass baing nat [ong JPY and short USOL Opan contracts at yeaar snd
are disclosed in the Portfolio of Irvestrments.

Tha Marsager may dsterrnins to isaue one of more classesof Units of the Fund without price notice o of written consmi of
the Lnithalders

At of the net amets attributable bo ) FY Hedged Jass Units and LEDClass Units are hedd by one Uinithalder.

1P d Class US0 Dt Total Fund

Balanci e Dacomber 31, 2080 WD 15000340 USD DERATSO60 LSO ITRITAADD
Sabtaceiptannd, dusing tha yaar 2,006,018 4,590,708 26109520
Radergtiong doring tha yaa {440, 145 {33 EE 80 ETLROMS
Pt dicrinmsir in ra aisets At g From oparations {5, i, 252 TSR0} {542 504)
Riirt Asnats o Dationibegr 31, 2007 A0 GETREEY W0 SRS USD  SJBLIOL
Kumbsr o Linds in ssue B Decembior 31, 7021 103,965 5,118,546 9332515
Lenis inuard dharing Ehat yaar AT 1, e 1B08.3m
Linits riedeismid during the year §35.8500 ATEH) [2.592,5%5
Mumber sfilings in b 0 Dacember X1, 2007 TR HallEART B508, 201
Nart Assat Valae par Unit ot December 31, 7002 (B3] TA LSO e

Subscriptions for Units
LED Clans Unitsweere subseribad Tor by Eligibile Irmwstors diring the nitid Offer Pariod ot the inftial purdhese prics of LED
1000 per Unit. PY Hedged Class Units were subscribed for by Eligible inwestors during the infta Offer Perdod at the initial
purchass price of IPY 10,000 par Lt The initial Offer Perod commencad on lune 18, 2018 and ended on June 27, 2018 In
addithon tothe subscription price, the applicant shall pay a siles charge calculated atup to 3% [exduding any tan applicable)
of the purchases price, 1o the Distribubor, There wane no Salet charges paid during the year ended December 31, 2022

Curing the Initid Offer Period, the minimom subscription {or USD Cess Units per subscriber was 10 Lits o maore, and in
rrudtiples of 1 Linit thersafter. During the Initial Offer Period, the minimuem indtfa subsoipton for IPY Hedged Qass Units
per subsoriber was 1 Linft or more, and inmuitiples of 1 Uinits theraafter,

O and after the nitial Oosing Day, B mindmuem subséription for LS00 ass Units per Unithald e |3 athar 10 Unitdor mare,
and In multiples of 0,001 Units thereafter or USD 100, and in muftiples of USD 0,01 thereafter, On and after the initial
Oosing Dy, the miiminum sub Soip tion for 1FY Hadged Class Units per Uritholder iseither 1 Unitor more, aadin mudtiphes
of 0.001 Units therealter or JFY 110,000 and in multiples of 1Y § therealter.

The Maomager may waive or change the minfmum Inftial and additonad subscription amounts set forth above in its sole
disor=tion Fom ime b Hme

Uit Redemptions

Ther Fund recognizes redemptions In accordance with the authoritative puidance on distinguishing Eabllites from equity,
Redermptions, whether exprassed as United States Dollar, laparess Yen or Linits, are recogresed os Babllites when each of
the lapaness Yen and United States Dollar Undt amounts reguested in the redempfon netice becomes flaed, which generally
PRy Cocur @ither B the trne of dhe recsipt of the notios, of on the last day of @ fiscel year, depending on the: nature of the
feguest. Az A fesull, rﬂmﬂﬁw:bﬁdﬂmhﬂafhm,htbﬁd upon e end net asets boa raflacted a8
radarotons payable ar December 31, 2023, Thens wers LUED 171,271 of rederrpiions payebl e 53 ar Decamber 31, 3022
indhiaded as Fayable for Units redesmead in the Sraterment of Assets and Lisbilites.

Fepurchore of Units
Units rrsy b repurchased at the cption of Unitholders on each Repurchase Day [meens sach Vaustion Day, of such cther
day o days a5 the Manager may from tirne 1o dme deterrring in respect of the Senles Trust),

Unitholders wishing 1o have Units repurchased must send a complened Repurchass Nobics 1o the Distributor 50 86 o be
received by the Distributor nolater than 300 pom. [Tokopo mel on the relevant Repurchase Doy, The Oisboibutor will send
the cormpleted Repurchase Notices to the Sub-Administrator by no later than 6:00 pow, (Tokys tms) on the reevant
Repurchase Doy or by such other time aa the Sub-Administrator may in amy particular cace determine.
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TRP US CORE GROWTH EQUITY FUND
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS {continued)
For the Year Ended December 31, 2022

UNITS [2entinu b

FEepurchose of Units [continaed )

If the relevant Repurchase Notfos is not recelved by the Sub-Administrator by the rdlevant fme, the Repurchase Motcewdll
b bl caser wnlil| thee next Repurchase Day and Unitswil then be redesrmed BT tha relsvant rapurchise prices spplicable on
that Repurchase Dary, b the event sither the day after the relevent Dealing Day or the day falling e daysalver the relevant
Diealirg Dy in & day o wihich Banks o steck sxdhang =i in lapan are not dpen lor normal businsss, any Repurchass Natice
recsived on such Dealing Day, shall not be acespted and instead, wil be acoepted on the next Dealing Dy,

A Repurchase Notfos, onot given, is revocabie,

Compulrary Redemption

In ther sent thist the Trustes o the Menager shall determins that sy Units of sy dass of 8 Fund aee baing held by or for
the banefit of a person who is not an Bigible mvestor for such Fund o that sech holding weould couse the Trust or the Fund
o be required to register, be subject to tax or violate the laws of ary jurisdiction, or if the Trustes o the Manager has
ressen to doubt the lagitimacy of the source of monies wed 1o fund the sbscription of purchass of such Units, o for
whteper raason [which may not be Ficlosed by the Trustes or the Manager to Unitholders] that the Trustes o the
Manager considers Bppropriate ot its absclute dscretion having regerd to the interests of the Unitholders of the relevant
Qass or the Unitholders of the Fund as a whole, then the Manager, after consultation with the Trustes, may direct the
cldar tharaol to sell {suljact to the provisions describedbel ow in the ssction headed *Transler of Units™) such Units within
10 daeys and provide o the Trustes and the Manager evidence of such sale, faling which the Manager may redsen wich
Unita,

Termination of the Fund
Lipon termination, the Manager will redize ol the assets of the Fund, and after payding out or retaining adequate provision
for all Habllitdes properly payable and retaining prowision for the costs of the termination, the Trustee shall distribute the
proceads of that redization to the Unithodders propor fionately to their respective interests in the Fund as of the date of
erminadion of the Fund,

Dirtribo tions to Unitholdes

The Manager may, from tGme bo time, in its sole dsoretion, dedare distributions from May 2019, Cistribution will be
dedarad snruslly on each Distribution Record Date and caltulated on asch Ex-Distribution Date, Distribution Period is &
period commimndng from the calendar day following the preceding Distribution Record Date and ending on and including
the Distribution Record Date. The distributions will be pad on the relevant Distibution Payrnant Date, provided that such
amount (if amy) dedared with respect to the relevant Oass of Unitsin respect of the applicable Distribu tion Peviod shall only
be paid out of the Fund's net incame, rédized and unrsalized capitdl gains and &y distributable Tunds of the Fund
anributable o sudy Oass of Linits os deparminad by the Manager,

The declar ation of distributions to Unitholders reduces the Class Level Met Asset Value per Unit without any Comesponding
change [ the numnbser of Class Level Units per Linfthalder, Thisresults in @ Undtholder's overall investmen tin the Fund being
raduced. in sddition, ey diarbutions duning & period which ire in excess of the Fund’s netintresss in net sssets reslting
frosm cparations results in @ portion of the distribution baing return of cepial.

The eereaet of diseributions, if amy, will be datsrrnired by the Managsr in it sole disretion, and no repressntation or
guaran ey [5 made that adsiribution wil be made in respect of sach or ary Distribuaion Parlod,

Copitalization

The Met Asset Value per Uit Is caloudated for each Dealing Day feach Valuation Day, or such cther day or days s the
Managar rasy fream time to dme decerralne in respact of the Fund), by diiding the dffecencs invalus benwesn the Fund's
agnets and llehakdes (including acorued fees and expenses of the Fund) by the number of Units cutstanding.

Th Trust Desd stpulates that tha number of Units to be issued In the Fund shall be unlinedted s the Manager shall
devererine and shall bewitheut par valus,

DERNATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUBAENTS
Actounting Standaed Codification [ASCH B15-10-50 requires disdom res about derivative instrurments and hedging sctivities
It requires that the Fund disdose: a) how and whry an entity wses derivative instruments, b} how derivative instroments and

ralatad hadged ibenms are accounted for and €] how derhvative instruments and rdated hadged iterms affect an etity's
financial position, financial performanoe and cash flows.
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TRPUS CORE GROWTH EQUITY FUND
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
Forthe Year Ended Decemnber 31, 2022

DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS [eontinisd)

The Fund transacts forward derfvative Instrurments primanlty for hedging purposes with each instrument’s primany rise
apoture bang foreign exchange risge. The forward foreign cuemency exchange contracts beld by the Fund do not qualify &
hedges for acounting purposes under the requiremsnts of ASC 315 The fair value of these dervative instruments is
indudedin the Staterment of Assets and Liabdliteswith changesin falr value reflected as redized gainaf losses) or net change
i ure eadized sppraciation){depraciation) on derivatives within the Statsrment of Operations (Note 2),

The Fund may enter Into an Intermationa Swaps and Dedwative Assodation, Inc Master Agresment (508 Master
dgreement®] with its countenparties in order to mitigate counterparty rise The GOA Master Agreement is typically
nagotated by the Fund and its counterparties, containing the bi-lateral terms and condidons for all subseguent derivative
ransationa The IS0A Master Agresment allows for the neming of all amounts owed o or dues from counterparey into 8
srgle net payment 1 @ credic event or default should oo,

Thoe Fursd e el tard to not offsst falr value recsivables and pavablas for derlvaitiee contracts on the Face of the Statement
of Assets and Linbilities,

Bt Dacamber 11, 2022 ths Fund had anterad into the following dadvative ssets by countenp ity net of amounts svalable
lor cifper under @ Masher Natting Agraamsnt {“MMNA"] and net of ary collaterad received by the Fund:

twathve Sasets bk ] th Canh Kot Arncunt of
Cpasvbe rparty Subjectto s MA  Avallsble for Offort Collateral Becebed Collateral Recehad  Derivathe Aot
ot Brothar Hamriman & Co L 450 LED (451 LA Lt — sl =
Gt PR — 156710 {14,600} = et 182110
Tl L) 157,201 Ush 1%5,0491) UsD ~UsD ~ LSO 147,110

it Decernber 31, 2022 the Fund had entered into the following derivative Eabilities by counterparty net of amounts
iendiabile for of fet un der 8 MR and net of ary coffatersl pledged by the Fund:

Derivaghe Bt Arnount of
Cinanteguarty Lighdities Derivathes Morreath Cath Derbuithve

Stabifect 0o 8 MR Available for Offier Colliferal Mledged  Colluteral Pledged Lialdltied |

Brgwm Brgthin Hierimen & G, LBD L U NLE =Rl —hl x5
it P 14500 {14,008 - - e
Tkl Uiy LRA0 IS0 (15,041 ) WD =S ] ns

N st s gl R re B0 ik ol D aatls Ao Ehe 0o unter oty o the eveed of ol sl

At Decernber 31, 20332 the Fund had enteredinge the ol cwing dacivatives:

BuietDeheatbees lakilice Derbigives

Diervartives Statensent SEatErnEnt

Hor &ccourded for a6 of Asswts and e Baawes and

Hdging et ruere g Liakilithe1 Locstion B air ke Liskilitiet Location Falr Valkue

Forwied foraign durrangy  Linmdabinad Jooeacition Linraalis od digrogation

g (orArdts oo forward Farign o Forward fviagn

[Currancy Rask] LarTendy ddrangn Lsn 157200 currency sschangs Lsn 15406
tanhrach Loertraits

The effect of derdwtive mstrum ants on the Satemant of Operations for the vawr andad Decernber 18, 20232

Dirivatives het

Rorounted Lo 3t ion of Eealiped Change in Unrealized

fos 2z Hedging Galm o (Lo Galner [Lei) Appredation o (Depeedation) om
irte L peL 6 oy Db Bl on Derbeatives Dirivaithenl

Wik roaliced loas on farward foragn
Forweird foraign durmendy  Currimiy @thangs corbas;
FhangE Lot e chaneinurrdaisad appraciation on {poward
[Curmimity Kiskj Fioringn Currinty inthangs tortrasts Ll (LEILSE0Y  LSD ATLEST
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TRP US CORE GROMWTH EQUITY FUND
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS {continued)
For the Year Ended December 31, 2022

The Manager is entited to receives out of the ssets of the Fund a management fes of a toba of up bo OU2ER per annum
{003 % per annum in respect of the fee for the Manager and 0, 25% per annum for the portfon of the Net Asset Valus up to
LED 250 rallion, 0.24% par arrum for the porticen of the Mat Asset Value ower LISD 250 million up to LISD 500 million snd
3.23% per anrum for the portion of the Met AssetVialue ower USD 500 millon inrespect of fee for the Irvestment Manager )
of the Nat Asset Value soerued on, and caltul sted 58 8, each Valuation Dy and payable monthly in arresrs in addition, the
Manager is also entifed to be relmburssd out of the assers of the Fund for ary expenses incured by it in the  proper
perforrrance of its powars snd duties 0% permitied undsr the Master Trust Deed,

Luring the year ended Decenber 31, 2021, the Monager earned fees of USD 354,713, of which USD 24,754 5 stil
caststanckng a5 of Decerrber 31, 2022,

Thea Marugor willl pay the fees of the Irvestrent Manasger out of ts faes, The imstment Manegar will be responsible for
paing the fees of any of its delegates or other parties appointed by the Imeestment Manager 1o perform [is functions in
respact of the Fund; provdded, howsyver, the investrent Manager may charge & ransacion fes on the subscripfons and
redemptions of shares of the Underlying Fund,

CUETODIAN AND SUB-ADMINIETRATOR'S FEES

The Fund has a amstody and accounting agreament with Brown Brothers Hamiman & Co. (the *Custedian”™ and “Suib-
Administrator®) for which the Custodian receives a fee caloudated and pald monthly based on tofal amsats and ramsacion

walume,

The Custodian nd Sub-Administrator is entifad to receive cut of the smats of the Fund & sdministration fee (induding
transfer agent fee) on the Met Asset Value acorued on, and caloulated a5 at, sach Valuation Dy at the foll owing annual rate:
- 00T Feup to [and induding) L0 250million;

-0U0EN U b [and inciuding) USD 500 million;

<005 cuer LSD 500 mdllizn,

Such administration fee is payabie monthly in arrears, and subject o the minimem annual fee of L&D &0,000. The Sub-
Adrinistrataris olsoentided toreceive cutof the pssets of the Fund feesfor currency administration and execution servces
at the rate of (U155 per annum of the Met Asset Value of the relesant Unit Cass, subject to the minimum annual fee of LISD
50,000, In addition, tha Custodian and Sub-Adminfarator is sles entitied 1o receive customary sifiskesping faet and
transaction charges All cut-of-podeet expenses of the Justodian and Sdb-Admindstrator shall afso be borne by the Fund,
During the yasr anded Decanber 11, 20232, the Custodion and Sub-Adrministrater sarmed fees of USD 76,010, of whith LISD
125,568 is still cutstanding a3 of Decemiper 31, 2022

TRUSTEE FEES AND ADMINISTRATOR'S FEES

Thee Trustes s entitled to receive cut of the assets of the Fund a combined fee af the rates of 007 5% per annum of the Nat
At Valiet accrued on, and caloulated as a1, eadh Vahation Day and payable gquartery in amears, subject 1o a minimum
ol Fee of USD 15,000, During the year ended Decernber 31, 2022, the Trustee samed fees of USD 19,007, of which USD
26271 i5 il cunstanding as of December 31, 2022,

AGENT COMPANTY'S FEES

The Agent Companmy s entitled to recave cut of theassets of the Fund a fes at the rate of 0039 per anmum of e Net Asset
Value accrued on, and calculated a5 af, each Vialuation Day and payable quarterly In arvears, During the year ended
Cecernber 21, 2022, the Agent earned fees of URD 28005, of which USD 17,138 is <t outstanding as of December 21, 3032,

DISTRIBUTICR'S FEES

The Distributor is entitled o receive cut of the assets of the Fund a fee ot the rabe of Q0653 per anmum of the Net Assat
Value accrued on, and calcdated as af, each Valustion Day and payable quarterty In arears During the year ended
Dcernber 31, 2033, the Distributors eamed fees of US0ER 3441, of which L0 258,313 s sl outstandirg as of December
11, 2022
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TRPUS CORE GROWTH EQUITY FUND
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
Forthe Year Ended Decemnber 31, 2022

OTHER FEES AMD EXPEMSES

Thea costsand exp e in connection with the establishrment of the Fund and the offaring of the Unit, together with the
estabiishrent of the Trust, induding the cotts and euparses of prapaing and printing any prospectus or sxplanatony
Brochures reguined, are estimated 1o amount 1o spproaimately USD 180,000, Such conts and expenses will be amortised
within the first fve [5} finencial years of the Fund uniess the Trustee decides that some other method shall be applied. The
Adrinistrater ressives USD 1,500 per anrum for FATCA £ ORS complisnes senices.

Thea Underiying, Fund is entited to recsive out of the sesets of the Underiying Fund, & fee at the rate of 0.65% per snnum of
the Net Assat Vaiua of the Underlying Fund,

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

Tha Fund's activities esp06e it toa varlety of Anancial riges: market risk finduding price rig, nterest rate risk, and ¢urrency
risk), eradit risk and liguidiny risk,

Market Risk
Al e strmants present a nisk of | oss of capival, The Ivestmant Manager moderates this risk through a carshl selection of
securitiesand cther Enancid instruments

Thes Funel' s iv1iestrn ent rranagement process s describad in Nate 1, The prirmary determinant of tha Fund’s sbilitg to meset
its chjective of mid to long term capital apprecistion while eaming income is depandent on the performance of the
[rmestrrant in tha Uindarhying Fund,

The values of the Fund's imestrments are alfected by & nurmber of factors, indieding but not limited to, changesin the wider
aconormy, fnandal and cumency markosts, foreign currency sxchange rates and interest rate movernents. The Fund enters
[nbe forward contracts which to varying degrees repredant b market sk in ewoess of the smount reflacted on the Fund's
Serrent of Assets ard Liabilities, The notonal armcunt of the Torwerd contract represents the extent of the Fund's
partidipation in these fnanca instruments, Market rigks sssociated with such forward contracts arse dus to the possiile
Fravernents in foreign currency exchangs rates urderhing these instrumenta

Orthver market and credit sk inciuda the posabilig that thane may be an flliguid rmarker for the contracts, that the change
in the wales of the contract may not directly comelate with dhanges in the value of the indadying currendes or that the
cunberparty 1o & forwerd contract delaults on its chligation 1o perfonm under the terms of the contract. The Fund's
exposre bo loss due bo counterparty non-performance on open futures, forward's, swap and options contracts is Bmited to
the urresiped appracistion inherent in fuch fnevaal imstrurments which are recognised in the Staterment of Assats and
Linblities,

Credit Risk

Crelit risk represents the potentlal loss that the Fund weould incur if the counterpar ties, Talled to perform purssant o the
termg of their chligatons 1o the Fund, For exchange-rraded coniracts, the exchangs &:ts a4 the counterparty to specfic
ransactions and, therefors, beacs the itk of defivery to and from counterparties of specific positions. The Fund's
Franag areent dos not consider that credit s rdated 1o open darvative contracts will have material adverse effecton the
limancid condition of the Fund,

Mthough the Manager monitons the Custodian and balisves it tobe n sppropriste custodian, there is no guarantes that
O o BTy CursCosdian Thist the Funed ey use Broen gime (o time, will notbacorms insotvent, which could lead tolosses o the
Fund,

‘Wilg both the LS, Bankruptcy Code and the Securites iImestor Protection At of 1570 seek (o probest custormss property
v thar vt of & fallure, irsolyency o ligedation of an inatintion, there is no cartanty that, in the svent of a lefure of an
instinJtion that has custody of Fund assets, the Fund wouldd not incur losses ces o its assers being unavailable for a period
of tirne, witirrately loss than hll recovery of its sssets, or both, Because all of the Fund's cash {3in curstody with a sngle
instination, such logses could be significant and coudd materially Impadr the abillty of the Fund to achisus its invesemant
clbjective, The Fund is subfect to oredit risk 1o the axtent that this insti iution may be unable to TRl s cbligatons to repay
AT G,

Lgui ety Wik

Fivestors should be swere that the value of Unitsreaght [a] s well srise, impestroent in the Fund invalves a degres of rd,
thare can De o Bser ance that the Fund’s imsesomant objective will be achieyed,
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TRPUS CORE GROWTH EQUITY FUND
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
Forthe Year Ended Decemnber 31, 2022

FANUAN CIAL P SK MANAGERMENT [continsed)

Liguiddity Risk [sontinued]

The Fund is exposed ko daly repurchess of its Units but mansgement believes that the Fund bas suffident resources to
meet the present and foreseeable needs of ts business cperations and, if necessary, the Equidity to fund repurchases and
achieve a market position sppropriately reflecting a smaller capital base. This position is monitored continually by
rranagement 1o engare that the Fund has the ability bo meet Its cbligations.

The Trustes, after consultation with the Manager, may suspend the fssuance and repurchase of units and payments in
respact of such ransactions in any droumstances wiane the calodation of the Underhyfng Fund's Net Asset Valu e per unit
s aspendiad, The Trustes will inform uritholders of such & srspension 8% soon & practicable after it is imposed o Kifved.
Suibwription appiicatons and repurchase notices cannct be withdrawn duning such suspension and will be procsssed for
the next Dealing date. All Unitholders of the Fund will be prormptly notified in writing of any sech suspension and will be
prompthy notified upon termination of such fspension.

Covranoy Risk

The Unit price of USDOass Unitsis determined in LSD, and the Unit price of JFY Hedged Oass Units is determined in Japanes
Yar while the Fund is denominated in ULS. dollers, The Fund, hower, may imnest a partion, o al of, its msats in cthar
asrendes, o In instruments dercminatesd in non-lapanese Yen of ronelB Dollee curmencies, the prices of whith will be
deterrrined with reference 1o such non-lapaness Yan of non LS Doller currencies, Thevalue of thee Fund s assets will fuctuate
with Jepanese Yen axchange rates aswell msthe price charges of itk irvestrents in thevasicus local markers snd currendas

The Fund dso may utilize options and forward contracts to hedge against currency fluctuations, but there can be no
s ange that such hedging transactionswill be effective, and ®ach techréques entadl costs and additional rsks,

Thee irveestrnent manager monicors tha Fund ‘s cunrendy sxpoRrne on a dally basls.

Dioher Rk

On Febrasry 24, 2001, Russia launchad & military imasion into Likrana, The conflict, which is ongoing o of tha dete that
e fimancial SEaterreents weirs avalable (o be seesd, carmies sigreficant risks for aworld sconormy that hasyet to fully recoyer
from the ireacts of the global COVID-19 pandarnic, Related impacts to gec-political instability, financial market walatity,
and the impdsition of sanctions, may in furn impacdt the entity.

The Marsager and/for ts delegates may Borrow moenies for the acotunt of the Fund provided that it will not Borrow maney
if, a5 @ resdt of guch borrowing, e aggregate amownt of cutstanding bormowings effected on behalf of the Fund would,
irrrnadingely following such borrowing, sxcaed 10% of the value of its ne sssers, save that tis linst may be sxoeedad
temporanly for & pericd not escesding 12 months in special siuations including, without Emitation, a menger of the Fund
with anther sedes trust, irestrent fund o other type of oolbective imestrrsnt schame,

Tiheiari yaper r1icn b v vl during the pesar ansdad (Deceen bar 31, 2022,
COMMITMENT S AND CONTINGENCIES

N the nonmial cowrse of business, the Trustes on Behalf of the Fund may enter Into contracts that contain a warlety of
representatons and warranties andwhich prowide general indemnifications Thegeneral indemnifications apply notonty to
the axtent such representations and warmranties are un rue but also may cover thind parties such as the Fund's Administrator,
Audiner or inestrnent Managar for clairns refated to the svces performed for the Fund, Tha Trestee™s radrium ssponse
under any pich arrangemEntsis Unknown, & esposune only aises o the extent furure claims that have not yet occured are
e agairst the Trustes, Howener, based on axperiance, the Trustes expects the risk of los o be remate,

SUBSECQUENT EVENTS

Mmmnmﬂ‘fmeda subysaquent ven s revisy Up BS May 12, 2023 which is the date the fnancd statermants were
ivaltable tobe ismred,

Efective lanuary 1, 2003 through May 12, 2023, there were subsoriptions of LISD 217, 418 and there ware redemnp bons of
LUB0 1,002 038 in respect of JFY Hedged Class Units. There wene distributions of nil in respect of 197 Hedged Oass Linfts

Effective Januany 1, 2023 through May 12, 2023, there were subscriptions of UISD 2,121,027 and there ware redempiions
of USD § 791,858 in respect of USDOass Linita, There were distribu tons of nil in respectof LSD Oass Urits,

There are no other Sgniflcant svents to report as they refate to the Fund,
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2024
130,895,289.12 20,537,470,863
739,214.15 115,982,700
130,156,074.97 20,421,488,163
6,987,890
63,523
17.78 2,790

14,719
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2023 31
2023 2022
10,387,958 1,629,871 9,431,206 1,479,756
2,439,807 382,806 2,509,480 393,737
12,827,765 2,012,676 11,940,686 1,873,494
1 0.157
1 0.157
12,827,765 2,012,676 11,940,687 1,873,494
1,996,396 313,235 1,984,608 311,385
1,996,396 313,235 1,984,608 311,385
480,000 2023 31

2022 31
480,000 480,000 75,312 480,000 75,312
10,351,369 1,624,130 9,476,079 1,486,797
10,831,369 1,699,442 9,956,079 1,562,109
12,827,765 2,012,676 11,940,687 1,873,494

13

10 22
2023
129332

156.90
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2023 31
2023 2022

12,607,808 1,978,165 17,934,583 2,813,936
(11,446,280)  (1,795,921) (15,915,713)  (2,497,175)
1,161,528 182,244 2,018,870 316,761

(80,923) (12,697) (98,749) (15,494)

1,080,605 169,547 1,920,121 301,267

(205,315) (32,214) (365,000) (57,269)

875,290 137,333 1,555,121 243,998

875,290 137,333 1,555,121 243,998

13

156.90
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( ) «c ) ( )
480,000 75,312 7,920,958

C ) ( ) C )
1,242,798 8,400,958 1,318,110

1,555,121 243,998 1,555,121 243,998
480,000 75,312 9,476,079 1,486,797 9,956,079 1,562,109
875,290 137,333 875,290 137,333

480,000 75,312 10,351,369

1,624,130 10,831,369 1,699,442

13
156.90
2023 31
2023 2022
875,290 137,333 1,555,121 243,998
80,923 12,697 98,749 15,494
205,315 32,214 365,000 57,269
1,161,528 182,244 2,018,871 316,761
222,571 34,921 (132,044) (20,718)
(193,526) (30,364) 171,551 26,916
(152,898) (23,990) (475,422) (74,594)
1,037,675 162,811 1,582,955 248,366
1,037,675 162,811 1,582,955 248,366
9,431,206 1,479,756 7,947,000 1,246,884
(80,923) (12,697) (98,749) (15,494)
10,387,958 1,629,871 9,431,206 1,479,756
13
156.90
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2023 31
309GT
IFRS IFRS
IFRIC 2023

IFRS 1ASB IFRIC

IFRS 1ASB IFRIC

2023 31 10,387,958 3,637,958
12
12

2023 31 2022 31
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2023 2022
42,288 26,931

2023 2022
80,923 98,749

2023 2022
19 2022 19 (205, 315) (365,000)
(205,315) (365,000)
(205,315) (365,000)

2023 31 2022
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2023 2022
1,080,606 1,920,122
19 2022 19
(205,315) (365,000)
(205,315) (365,000)
19.0 19.0
2021 2023 25
2021
2023 2022
1,822,476 2,074,355
547,206 365,000
70,125 70,125
2,439,807 2,509,480
2022 31
2022
100
190
2023 2022
158,831 114,502
194,982 168,009
1,072,268 1,337,007
570,315 365,000
1,996,396 1,984,608
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11
2023 31
2023 31 a
( ) ( )
1,307,294 413,237
5,080,647 416,397
1,994,461 173,046
839,181 66,862
66,598 2,726
106,123
9,394,304 1,072,268
2022 31
2022 31 a
( ) ( )
1,453,679 474,263
7,323,113 520,898
3,429,574 246,312
1,227,939 86,759
110,482 8,865
106,095
13,650,882 1,337,097
(a
(b
(c
2023 31 80,000 2022 80,000
12
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NIKKO AM GLOBAL CAYMAMN LIMITED
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

AS AT 31 MARCH 2023
Mete 2023 2022
usb Uspb
Assets
Current Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 10,387,952 9,431,206
Debtors 7 2.439.807 2,509,480
Tetal Current Assots 12,827,765 11,940,686
MNon-Current Assets
Investment in subsidiary 2 1
Total Non-Current Assets 1
Total Assets 12,827,765 11,540,687
Liabilities and Equity
Current Liabilities
Creditors 9 1,996,356 1,984 6028
Total Current Liabilities 1,996,396 1,984,608
Equity
Capital and Reserves Attributable to Equity
Holders of the Company
Share capital (51 par value, 430,000 shares
auvthorized, 420,000 shares issued and 420,000 420,000
outstanding at 31 March 2023 and 2022}
Retained earnings 10,351, 369 9,476,079
Total Equity 10,831,389 9,956,079
Total Liabilities and Equity 12,827,765 11,940,687

The annexed notes from 1 to 13 form an integral part of these financial statements.

These fimancial statements on pages 10 to 22 were approved by the Board of Directors and authorised

for issue and signed on its behalf by:

y —
D Cruige - Directar
05 September 2023

Company registered number: 129332
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NIKKO AM GLOBAL CAYMAMN LIMITED
STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023
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Note 2023 2022
usb ush
Revenue 3 12,607,208 17,934,583
Administrative expensas 111,446,280} [15915.713)
Operating profit 1,161,528 2,018,870
Other expenses g {80,923) {98,749)
Profit before income tax 1,080,605 1,920,121
Income tax & (205,315} {365,000}
Profit after income tax £75,290 1,555,121
Other Comprehensive Income for the year - .
Total comprehensive income for the year 875,290 1,555,121

Allthe Company's operations are classified as continuing.

The annexed notes fram 1 to 13 farm an Integral part of these financial statements.
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NIKKO AM GLOBAL CAYMAMN LIMITED
STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023

Share Retained
hoA Capital Earnings Toms)
usk usp usD
Balance at 31 March 2021 480,000 7,920,958 B4D0,958
Other comprehensive income far ) 1,555,121 1,555,121
the year
Balance at 31 March 2022 480,000 9,476,079 9,956,079
Other comprehensive income far 475,290 875,290
the year
Balance at 31 March 2023 AB0,000 10,351,369 10,831,369

The annexed notes from 1 to 13 form an integral part of these financial statements.
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NIKKO AM GLOBAL CAYMAMN LIMITED
CASH FLOW STATEMENT
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023

Note 2023 2022
usD UsD
Cash Flows from Operating Activities
Profit after tax 875,290 1,555,121
Adjustments for
Met foreign exchange loss 5 30923 98,749
Tax charge 205,315 365,000
Operational cash flows befare movements in
wirkiig caphal 1,161,528 2,018,871
Changes in cperating assets and liabilities
Decreasef {Increase) in receivables 222571 {132.044)
{Decreasel/ Increase in payables {183,526} 171,551
Ineome tax paid {152,898) {475,422)
Met Cash Generated from Operating Activities 1,037,675 1,582,955
Met Increase in Cash and Cash Equivalents 1,037,675 1,582 955
Cash and cash eguivalents, beginning of the year 5,431,206 7,947,000
Effect of exchange rate fluctuations on cash held {20,923} 198,744)
Cash and Cash Equivalents, End of the Year 10,387,958 9,431 206

The annexed notes from 1 to 13 form an integral part of these financial statements.
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NIKKO AM GLOBAL CAYMAMN LIMITED
MOTES TO THE FINAMCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023

MNote 1 = General Information

Nikke AM Global Caymar Limited [“the Company”) is incorporated and damiciled in the Cayman
Islands. The address of the registered office is PO Box 309GT, Ugland House, South Chureh Street,
Grand Cayman, Cayman Islands. The principal activities of the Company during the year were the
pravision of investment advice and investment management services ta third parties and other group
members, These non-statutory financlal statemerts have been prepared to ensure continued
compliance by the Company with the requirements of Chapter 3 of the Overteas Companies
Repulations,

Note 2 = Summary of Significant Accounting Principles
The principal saceaunting policies adopted are set aut below.

Basls of preparation

The Company's financial statements have been prepared in accordance with UK-adopted international
accounting standards {UK-adopted IFRS) and IFRIC interpretations applicable to companies reparting
uncer [FRS. As at 31 March 2023, the Company had adopted all IFRSs and interpretations that had
been Bsued by the International Accounting Stancards Board ("IASB") anc Irternational Fimancial
Reporting Interpretations Committes {"IFRIC"). The accounting policies set out below have been
applied corsistently to all periods presented in these financial statements. IFRSs comprise accounting
stancards issued by the IASE and its predecessor body as well as interpretations issved by the IFRIC
and its predecessor bocy.

The directors have adopted the going concern basis of preparation in preparing these financial
statements for the fallowing reasons: the Company is profitable; the Company has a strang and bighly
liguie balance sheet including cash reserves of 510,387 952 as at 31 March 2023 (53,637,958 post
dividend}, which is adegquate to cover the relatively low-cost base [after excluding sub-advisory fees
which are covered by revenues). The directors have prepared profit forecasts which, together with
the liquid reserves and low cost base, indicate that the Company has sufficient reserves to meet their
liabilities for at least 12 manths from the date of preparing these financial statements.

Based on the above, the directors have a reasonable expectation that the Company has adeguate
resources to continue its operations for at least 12 months from the date of these financial statemeants,
Therefore, they continue to adopt the going concern basis in preparing these accounts,

New accounting standards adopted
The directors do not consider that any rew accounting standards had 3 material impact on the
Company in the current year.

Measurement convention
The financial statements have been prepared under the historical eost canvention.
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NIKKO AM GLOBAL CAYMAMN LIMITED
MOTES TO THE FINAMCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023

MNote 2 = Summary of Significant Accounting Principles (continued)

Estimates and assumptions

The preparation of financial statements requires the directars to make estimates and assumptions
that affect the amounts reported for assets and liabilities as at the balance sheet date and the amounts
reported for reverues and expenses during the year. The nature of estimation means that actual
outcomes could differ from those estimates. The assumptions and estimates, which are continuously
reviewed, are based on past experience and ather factors, including expactations regarding likely
cevelopments in the future. At 21 March 2023 and 2022 there were na material estimates or
assumptions.

Operating revenues

Operating revenues include investment management, investment advisory and performance fees,
Qperating revenues are measured at the fair value of the corsideration received or receivable for
services provided in the normal course of business, net of discounts, trail fees, VAT and other sales
related taxes,

Irvestment management and advisory fees ane associated charges are recognisec when the services
concernad are rendered. Investment managemeant and advisory fees are calculated as a percentage
of assets under management. Performance fees are recognised in the period in which they become
due and collectable.

Operating expenses
Operating expenses are accounted for when they become payable.

Current and deferred income tax

Tax an the profit or loss for the year comprises current and deferred tax. Tax is recognised in the
statement of comprebensive income except to the extert that it relates to items recognised directly
in aguity, in which case it is recognisad in equity.

Current tax is the expectec tax payable or receivable or the taxable incame or loss for the year, using
tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date, and any adjustment to tax
payable in respect of previous years.

The Company may utilise current tax credits anising or losses in other Group entities against its tax
charges.

Deferred tax is the tax expected to be payable or recoverable on differerces between the carrying
amounts of assets and labilities in the statement of firarcial position and the corresponding tax bases
used in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax i accounted for using the statement of
firancial position lability methad. Deforred tax liabilities are penerally recognised for all taxable
temporary differences and deferred tax assets are recopnised to the extent that it is probable that
taxable profits will be available against which decuctible temporary differences can be utilised.
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NIKKO AM GLOBAL CAYMAM LIMITED
MOTES TO THE FINAMCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023

MNote 2 = Summary of Significant Accounting Principles (continued)

Foreign currencies
The functional and presertational curmency of the Compamy is US dollars [5).

Trarsactions in currencies other than US collars are recorded at the rates of exchange prevailing on
the dates of the transactions. At each balance sheet date, monetary assets and liabilities that are
cenominated in foreign currencies are retranslatac at the rates prevailing on the balance sheet date,
Man-monetary assets and liabilities carried at fair value that are denominated in foreign currencies
are translated at the rates prevailing at the date when fair value was determired, Gains and losses
arising on retranslation are included In net profit or loss for the period, except for exchange
diffarences arising an non-monetary assets and labilities where the changes in falr value are
recogrised directly in equity.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash eguivalents comprise cash in banks and in hard and short-term ceposits with an original
maturity of three months ar less and foreign currencies held by the Company. For the purposes of the
cash flow statement, cash anc cash equivalents consist of cash and cash equivalerts as defined abave,
net of outstanding bank averdrafts.

Financial instruments
The vast majority of the Company's financial instruments are cash and receivables which are measured
at amartised cost.

The Company has evaluated potential credit losses on all financial assets that are measured at
amortised cost. Factors considered in determining whether a default is likely or possible include
whether a paymenrt is overdue {and the length of that period), any known deterioration in the credit
guality of a client/ counterparty or other issues that could adversely affect a client's/ counterparty's
credit guality.

Far financial assets where there is no known issues affecting credit quality, expected credit losses are
calculated based on the losses that are expected to be incurred over a rolling twelve-month period.
Given the nature of the Company's financial assets {ie. mostly cash at bank), there is a very low credit
risk, The Company is also considering the use of money market funds to increase diversification and
further reduce credit risk.

For any financial assets where the contractual payment is more than 30 days past due, the default
position is to assume an ircrease in credit risk. However, default levels in the past have been
immaterial and there were no fee receivables past due as at 31 March 2023,

Acoounts recelvable

Accounts receivable incluce amounts due for management, advisory and performance fees and
amaunts due from customers and others. All accounts receivable are repayable on cemand or within
ore year, They are recorded in the balance sheet at cost, reduced by appropriate allowances for
estimated irrecoverable amaunts, and they are interest bearing.
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NIKKO AM GLOBAL CAYMAM LIMITED
MOTES TO THE FINAMCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023

MNote 2 = Summary of Significant Accounting Principles (continued)

Investments in subsidiaries
Irvestments in subsidiaries are stated in the parent company's balapce sheet at cost less any
provisions for impairment.

At each statement of finarcial position date, the Company reviews the carrying amounts of its
investments to determine whetherthere is any indication that thase assets have suffered impairment,
If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the investment iz estimated in order to
determine the extent of any impairment.

Aceounts payable

Accounts payable include amounts due for sub-advisory services and performance fees and amounts
cue to wendars and others, All accounts payable are classified according to the substance of the
contractual arrangement entered into, They are payable on cemanc or within one year and are
recorced on the balance sheet at cost. Amourts owed to group undertakings are unsecured, interest
free and have no fived terms of repayment.

Mote 3 = Revenue from Contracts with Customers

All raverue relates ta the provision of investment advice and investment managemant services and
arises in the Cayman Islands,

MNote 4 — Administrative expense

Administeative expense is stated after charging:

2023 2022
usp usp
Audit fees 42,288 26931
MNote 5 = Other expenses
2023 2022
usp usp
Met fareipn exchange loss 20,923 98.749
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Note 6 = Taxation

Taxes on income for the year erced 21 March 2023 were as follows:
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2023 2022
usp usp
Current Tax
UK corparation tax at 19% [2022: 19%) basad or net
revenus (205,315) [365.000)
Total Current Income Tax Expense {205,315) (265,000)
Total Income Tax Expense (205,215) (365,000)

A reconciliation between the amount of tax expense at the effective statutory rate and taxes on
incame as reflected in continuing operations far the years ended 31 March 2023 and 2022 is presented

bebow:

Tax Reconciliation

Profit before taxes 1,080,606 1,920,122
Profit multiplied by the standard rate of corporation tax in

the UK: 19% [2022: 19%) {205,315) [365.000)
Total Income Tax Expense {205,315} {365,000)
Effective tax rate for the year 19.0% 19.0%

I the 2021 Spring Budget, the Governmant announced that from 1 April 2023, the main rate of UK
corporation tax rate will increase to 25%. This was substantively enacted in May 2021 and will have a
consequential effect on the Comparmy's future tax charge. The Company interds to utilise current tax
credit from other entities in the wider Nikko Graup in the year to offset the Campany's current tax

gxpense.

The amount due to affiliates in relation to group tax relief is included as a payable in the statement of

firancial position,

Note 7 = Debtors
2023 2022
usp usD
Accounts receivable 1822476 2,074,355
Corporation tax receivable 547,206 365,000
Accrued income and prepaid expense 70,125 70,125
2,439,807 2,500,480
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NIKKO AM GLOBAL CAYMAMN LIMITED
MOTES TO THE FINAMCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023

MNote 8 = Investment in Subsidiary

Ar 31 Marnch 2022 the Compary had an investment of 51 in Nikko AM [Cayman] Limited. Subseguenthy
the directors resolved to voluntarily wind up its subsidiary, Nikka AM (Cayman) Limited and it was
deemed to be dissolved by the Assistant Registrant of Companies, Cayman Islands on 2 May 2022,

Mumber, class and

percentage of
Country of Principal shares held by the
Investee incorporation activity Company
ko M cayman o B e
The subsidiany's registered acdress was 190 Elgin Avenue, George Town, Grand Cayman, Cayman
Islanas.
Note 9 = Creditors
2023 2022
usp uso
Accrued expenses and deferred income 158,831 114,502
Accounts payable 194,982 168,009
Amounts payable to affiliates 1,072 268 1,337,097
Amounts payable to affiliates — group tax relicf 570,315 365,000
1,996,396 1,984 608

Mote 10 = Financial Risk Factors

The Company's financial instruments comprise cash and cash equivalents and receivable and payable
balances that arise from its daily operations. All cash and cash equivalents are carried at cost which
is considered to approximate to fair value due to the short term maturity of these financial
instruments, The main risks associated with the Company's financial assets and liabilities are set out
below:

Credit risk

Credit risk is defined as the risk of fimancial loss duee to a counterparty’s failure to hanour its obligation
principally in relation to trarsactions where the Company provides goods or services on deferred
terms and where it invests or deposits surplus cash. The Company do not believe that they are
materially exposed to credit risk as its sales debtors are managed group funds and therefare
maragement and performance fees receivable are governed by its agreements with these funds. To
mitigate any residual risk of these assets failing to be delivered, the Campary ernsure that the terms
of thete agreements in relation to payments of management and perfarmance feas are ackerad to by
manitoring its aged cebtar analysis against the agreec service level agreements.
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NIKKO AM GLOBAL CAYMAMN LIMITED
MOTES TO THE FINAMCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023

Mote 10 = Financial Risk Factors {continued)
Credit risk (continued)

The Company adopts the policy of dealing with custamers of appropriate eredit history. For other
firancial assets, the Comparny acopts the policy of dealing with financial irstitutions and other
counterparties with high credit ratings. There are no financial assets past due anc / or impaired as at
31 march 2023 ana 2022, Tracde receivables are due at least quarterly, and are narmally settled within
30 days of their due aate. There are no ovardue trade receivables at the balance sheet date.

Further, with repard to bark deposits, the Company only depasits morey with approved
counterparties on agreed terms.

Market risk

Market risk for systemic risk} is defined as that risk which is commaon to an entire class of assets or
liabilities whereby their value can fluctuate simply becavse of economic changes or other events that
impact large portions of the market. The Company do not believe that they are exposed to material
market risk as the assets the Campary manage are held by and for the bepefit of furd halders through
separate legal entities.

Currency risk

Currency risk is defined as the risk that the value of assets and liabilities cenominated in currencies
other than the functioral currency of the Compary will change in value due to movements in foreign
exchange rates. The Compary is exposed to currency risk arising from cash balarces and fees
receivable in various currencies.

During the year any foreign exchange risk on the Company's fees receivable and pavable is mitigated
by the use of derivative instruments, specifically forward foreign exchange contracts.

The Company's total exposure to currency risk ansing from cash balarces, payables and fees
receivable in ather currencies is 461,277 (2022; 5441903), As at 31 March 2023, had these
currencies strengthened/ weakered by 10% against the USD, the total exposure would have been
lower by approximately $42k (2022: 544k)/ increased by approsimately 551k [2022: £44k),

Liguidity risk and financial sclvency risk

Liquidity risk is defined as the risk that the Company will not be able to meet its finarcial obligations
as they fall due. The Company’s approach to managing this risk is to ensure that it has sufficient
liguicity to meet its liabilities when due, both under rarmal and stressed conditions.

Caplital management

The Company capital position s monitored an an ongoing basis to epsure that it is adecuate. There
are no externally impasec capital reguirements.
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NIKKO AM GLOBAL CAYMAN LIMITED
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023
MNote 11 = Related Party Transactions

Transactions between the Company and related parties are disclosed below:

Operating Creditor as at 31
Year ended 31 March 2023 Expenses (a) March 2023 (b}
ush usp

Mikko Asset Management Americas, Inc. 1,307,254 413,237
Mikka Asset Management Europe Lod. 5,080,647 416,397
Mikko Asset Management Co., Ltd. 1,594 461 173,046
Mikko Asset Management Asia Ltd, 239,181 66,862
Mikka Asset Maragement Hong Eong 66,598 2,726
Highwater Limited 106,123 -
9,394,304 1,072,268

Operating Creditor as at 31

Year ended 31 March 2022 Eimenias (o) March 2022 (b)

uso usp
Nikko Asset Maragement Americas, Inc. 1,453,673 474,262
Mikka Asset Management Eurape Ltd. 7,323,113 520,898
Mikko Asset Management Co., Ltd, 3.429574 246,312
Mikko Asset Management Asia Led, 1,227.939 26,759
Mikko Asset Management Hong Kang 110,482 2,865
Highwater Limited 106,095

13,650,882 1,337,007

{a} Operating expenses paid to related parties [exclucing Highwater Limited) are payable under
investment maragement agreements and are for fund management services, Operating expenses
paid to Highwater Limiteg relate to director, company secretarial anc other services provided by
Highwater Limited to the Company.

{b] The amounts outstanding, in the above table relate to operating expenses, are unsecured and will
be settled in cash. No guarantees have been given or received. No provisions kave been made for
doubtful debts in respect of the amounts owed by related parties.

e} Amounts payable to affiliates relating to group tax relief are not incluced in the amounts
outstanding in the above table but are included in the statement of financial position,

Remuneration of directars for the year ended 31 March 2023 was 580,000 [2022: 580,000},

Nikko Asset Management Co., Ltd is the intermediate parent company of the Company. Mikko Asset
Management Americas, Inc., Nikko Asset Management Eurape Ltd,, Nikko Asset Management Asia Lt
and MWikko Asset Managemert Hong Kong are fellow subsidiaries of the Company. Nikko Asset
Management Co., Ltd is an indirect share holder of the subsidiaries, Highwater Limited is controlled by
individuals who are Directors of Nikke AM Global Cayman Limited.
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NIKKO AM GLOBAL CAYMAMN LIMITED
MOTES TO THE FINAMCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023

Mote 12 = Ultimate Holding Company

The Company's immediate parent is Nikko AM Global Holdings Limited, a company located in the
United Kinpdom. The Comparmy i a subsidiary undertaking of Sumitome Mitsul Trust Haoldings, Inc
which is the ultimate parent company in Japan.

The largest group ir which the results of the Company are consolidated is that headed by Sumitomo
Mitsui Trust Haldings, Ire., 1-1-2 Marunauchi, Chiyada-ku, Tokyo, lapan, The consolidated financial
statements of this group are available to the public kttp:/fwww smth_ip/en)

Note 13 - Subsequent Events

The payment of a dividend for the year ended 31 March 2023 of 56,750,000 was made ta its immediate
parent on 7 July 2023,

Operating expenses paid to Highwater Limitec relate to cirector, company secretarial and ather
services provided by Highwater Limited to the Company.
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2023 30
2023 30 2023 3
4,114,915 645,630 10,387,958 1,629,871
1,696,782 266,225 2,439,807 382,806
5,811,697 911,855 12,827,765 2,012,676
5,811,697 911,855 12,827,765 2,012,676
1,247,095 195,669 1,996,396 313,235
1,247,095 195,669 1,996,396 313,235
480,000 2023 30
2023 31
480,000 480,000 75,312 480,000 75,312
4,084,602 640,874 10,351,369 1,624,130
4,564,602 716,186 10,831,369 1,699,442
5,811,697 911,855 12,827,765 2,012,676
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6,531,640 1,024,814 12,607,808 1,978,165
(5,979, 100) (938,121) (11,446,280)  (1,795,921)
552,540 86,694 1,161,528 182,244
(69,307) (10,874) (80,923) (12,697)
483,233 75,819 1,080,605 169,547
(205,315) (32,214)
483,233 75,819 875,290 137,333
483,233 75,819 875,290 137,333
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156.90

135/191



2022

2023

2023

31

31

30

EDINETOOOO
OO000DO00oDOo00DOo0OooOodnE27078)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

2023 30

( ) « ) ( ) ( ( ) « )
480,000 75,312 9,476,079 1,486,797 9,956,079 1,562,109
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480,000 75,312 10,351,369 1,624,130 10,831,369 1,699,442
(6,750,000)  (1,059,075) (6,750,000) (1,059,075)
483,233 75,819 483,233 75,819
480,000 75,312 4,084,602 640,874 4,564,602 716,186
10
156.90
2023 30
2023 30 2023 31
483,233 75,819 875,290 137,333
69,307 10,874 80,923 12,697
205,315 32,214
552,540 86,694 1,161,528 182,244
743,025 116,581 222,571 34,921
(749,301) (117,565) (193,526) (30, 364)
(152,898) (23,990)
546,264 85,709 1,037,675 162,811
546,264 85,709 1,037,675 162,811
10,387,958 1,629,871 9,431,206 1,479,756
(6,750,000)  (1,059,075)
(69,307) (10,874) (80,923) (12,697)
4,114,915 645,630 10,387,958 1,629,871
10
156.90
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20,000 42,288
2023 30 2023 31
69,307 80,923
2023 30 2023 31
2020 10 19
2023 30 2023 31
1,465,210 1,822,476
182,206 547,206
49,366 70,125
1,696,782 2,439,807
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126,832 158,831

212,256 194,982

908,007 1,072,268

570,315

1,247,095 1,996,396
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Independent auditor®s report

To FirstCaribbean International Bank and Trust Company (Cayman) Limited solely in its capacity as the
Trustee of TRP US Core Growth Equity Fund

Our opinion
In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial
position of TRP US Core Growth Equity Fund (the Fund) as at December 31, 2023, and the results of its
operations, changes in its net assets, its cash flows and the financial highlights for the year then
ended in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.
What we have audited
The Fund s financial statements comprise:

the statement of assets and liabilities as at December 31, 2023;

the portfolio of investments as at December 31, 2023;

the statement of operations for the year then ended;

the statement of changes in net assets for the year then ended;

the statement of cash flows for the year then ended;

the financial highlights for the year then ended; and

the notes to the financial statements, which include significant accounting policies and other
explanatory information.

Basis for opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor =s responsibilities for

the audit of the financial statements section of our report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis
for our opinion.
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Independence

We are independent of the Fund in accordance with the International Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (including International Independence Standards) issued by the International Ethics
Standards Board for Accountants (IESBA Code). We have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in
accordance with the IESBA Code.

Responsibilities of management for the financial statements

Management 1is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, and for such
internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for evaluating whether there are
conditions and events, considered in the aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about the Fund s
ability to continue as a going concern within one year after the date that the financial statements
are issued, or available to be issued, and disclosing, as applicable, matters related to this
evaluation unless the liquidation basis of accounting is being used by the Fund.

Auditor s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor ™s report
that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee
that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it
exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in
the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on
the basis of these financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain
professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to
fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the
override of internal control.

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an

opinion on the effectiveness of the Fund s internal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting

estimates and related disclosures made by management.
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Conclude on the appropriateness of management s use of the going concern basis of accounting and,
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Fund ”s ability to continue as a going concern.
IT we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our
auditor s report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures
are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up
to the date of our auditor ”s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Fund to
cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including
the disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope
and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.

Other matter

This report, including the opinion, has been prepared for and only for FirstCaribbean International
Bank and Trust Company (Cayman) Limited solely in its capacity as Trustee of the Fund in accordance
with the terms of our engagement letter and for no other purpose. We do not, in giving this opinion,
accept or assume responsibility for any other purpose or to any other person to whom this report is

shown or into whose hands it may come save where expressly agreed by our prior consent in writing.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
May 29, 2024
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR®S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF NIKKO AM GLOBAL CAYMAN LIMITED

Opinion

We have audited the non-statutory financial statements of Nikko AM Global Cayman Limited (““the Company””) for
the year ended 31 March 2023 which comprise the statement of Comprehensive Income, Statement of Financial
Position, Statement of Changes in Equity, Cash Flow Statement and related notes, including the accounting
policies in note 2. The non-statutory financial statements have been prepared for the reasons set out in note 1.

In our opinion the non-statutory financial statements:

give a true and fair view of the state of the Company s affairs as at 31 March 2023 and of its profit for
the year then ended; and

have been properly prepared in accordance with UK-adopted international accounting standards.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (““ISAs (UK)”?) and the terms
of our engagement letter dated 9 June 2023. Our responsibilities are described below. We have fulfilled our
ethical responsibilities under, and are independent of the Company in accordance with, UK ethical requirements
including the FRC Ethical Standard. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is a sufficient and
appropriate basis for our opinion.

Going concern

The directors have prepared the non-statutory financial statements on the going concern basis as they do not
intend to liquidate the Company or to cease its operations, and as they have concluded that the Company®s
financial position means that this is realistic. They have also concluded that there are no material
uncertainties that could have cast significant doubt over its ability to continue as a going concern for at least
a year from the date of approval of the non-statutory financial statements (““the going concern period’”).

In our evaluation of the directors® conclusions, we considered the inherent risks to the Company s business
model and analysed how those risks might affect the Company s financial resources or ability to continue
operations over the going concern period.

Our conclusions based on this work:

we consider that the directors® use of the going concern basis of accounting in the preparation of the non-
statutory financial statements is appropriate; and

we have not identified and concur with the directors” assessment that there is not, a material uncertainty
related to events or conditions that, individually or collectively, may cast significant doubt on the
Company*s ability to continue as a going concern for the going concern period.

However, as we cannot predict all future events or conditions and as subsequent events may result in outcomes

that are inconsistent with judgements that were reasonable at the time they were made, the above conclusions are
not a guarantee that the Company will continue in operation.
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Fraud and breaches of laws and regulations — ability to detect

Identifying and responding to risks of material misstatement due to fraud

To identify risks of material misstatement due to fraud (““fraud risks””) we assessed events or conditions that
could indicate an incentive or pressure to commit fraud or provide an opportunity to commit fraud. Our risk
assessment procedures included:

enquiring of directors and inspection of policy documentation as to the Company ”s high-level policies and
procedures to prevent and detect fraud, as well as whether they have knowledge of any actual, suspected or
alleged fraud; and

reading Board meeting minutes.

We communicated identified fraud risks throughout the audit team and remained alert to any indications of fraud
throughout the audit.

As required by auditing standards, and taking into account our overall knowledge of the control environment, we
perform procedures to address the risk of management override of controls, in particular the risk that management
may be in a position to make inappropriate accounting entries. On this audit we do not believe there is a fraud
risk related to revenue recognition because the calculation of the revenue is non-judgmental and straightforward,
with limited opportunity for manipulation.

We did not identify any additional fraud risks.

We also performed procedures including identifying journal entries to test based on risk criteria and comparing
the identified entries to supporting documentation. These included all post-closing journals.

Identifying and responding to risks of material misstatement due to non-compliance with laws and Regulations

We identified areas of laws and regulations that could reasonably be expected to have a material effect on the
financial statements from our general commercial and sector experience, and through discussion with the directors
and other management (as required by auditing standards), and from inspection of the Company"s regulatory and
legal correspondence and discussed with the directors and other management the policies and procedures regarding
compliance with laws and regulations.

We communicated identified laws and regulations throughout our team and remained alert to any indications of non-
compliance throughout the audit.

The potential effect of these laws and regulations on the financial statements varies considerably.

Firstly, the Company is subject to laws and regulations that directly affect the financial statements including
financial reporting legislation (including related companies legislation), and we assessed the extent of
compliance with these laws and regulations as part of our procedures on the related financial statement items.

Secondly, the Company is subject to many other laws and regulations where the consequences of non-compliance
could have a material effect on amounts or disclosures in the financial statements, for instance through the
imposition of fines or litigation or the loss of the Company®s authority to operate. We identified the following
areas as those most likely to have such an effect: certain aspects of company legislation recognising the
financial nature of the Company"s activities and its legal form.

Auditing standards limit the required audit procedures to identify non-compliance with these laws and regulations
to enquiry of the directors and other management and inspection of regulatory and legal correspondence, if any.
Therefore, if a breach of operational regulations is not disclosed to us or evident from relevant correspondence,
an audit will not detect that breach.
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Context of the ability of the audit to detect fraud or breaches of law or regulation

Owing to the inherent limitations of an audit, there is an unavoidable risk that we may not have detected some
material misstatements in the financial statements, even though we have properly planned and performed our audit
in accordance with auditing standards. For example, the further removed noncompliance with laws and regulations
is from the events and transactions reflected in the financial statements, the less likely the inherently limited
procedures required by auditing standards would identify it.

In addition, as with any audit, there remained a higher risk of non-detection of fraud, as these may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal controls. Our audit
procedures are designed to detect material misstatement. We are not responsible for preventing noncompliance or
fraud and cannot be expected to detect non-compliance with all laws and regulations.

Other information

The directors are responsible for the other information, which comprises the Directors Report. Our opinion on the
non-statutory financial statements does not cover the other information and, accordingly, we do not express an
audit opinion or any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

Our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether, based on our non-
statutory financial statements audit work, the information therein is materially misstated or inconsistent with
the non-statutory financial statements or our audit knowledge. Based solely on that work, we have not identified
material misstatements in the other information.

Directors” responsibilities

As explained more fully in their statement set out on page 5, the directors are responsible for: the preparation
of the non-statutory financial statements, which are intended by them to give a true and fair view; such internal
control as they determine is necessary to enable the preparation of non-statutory financial statements that are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; assessing the Company s ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern; and using the going concern basis of
accounting unless they either intend to liquidate the Company or to cease operations, or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

Auditor®s responsibilities

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the non-statutory financial statements as a whole
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue our opinion in an auditor”s
report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but does not guarantee that an audit conducted in
accordance with 1SAs (UK) will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from
fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of the non-statutory financial statements.

A fuller description of our responsibilities is provided on the FRC s website at
www._frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities.
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The purpose of our audit work and to whom we owe our responsibilities

Our report has been prepared for the Company solely in accordance with the terms of our engagement. It has been
released to the Company on the basis that our report shall not be copied, referred to or disclosed, in whole
(save for the Company *s own internal purposes) or in part, without our prior written consent.

Our report was designed to meet the agreed requirements of the Company determined by the Company ”s needs at the
time. Our report should not therefore be regarded as suitable to be used or relied on by any party wishing to
acquire rights against us other than the Company for any purpose or in any context. Any party other than the
Company who obtains access to our report or a copy and chooses to rely on our report (or any part of it) will do
so at its own risk. To the fullest extent permitted by law, KPMG LLP will accept no responsibility or liability
in respect of our report to any other party.

Carla Cassidy (Senior Statutory Auditor)
for and on behalf of KPMG LLP

Chartered Accountants

15 Canada Square

London E14 5GL

05 September 2023
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Independent auditor®s report

To FirstCaribbean International Bank and Trust Company (Cayman) Limited solely in its capacity as the
Trustee of TRP US Core Growth Equity Fund

Our opinion
In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial
position of TRP US Core Growth Equity Fund (the Fund) as at December 31, 2022, and results of its
operations, changes in its net assets, its cash flows and the financial highlights for the year then
ended in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.
What we have audited
The Fund s financial statements comprise:

the statement of assets and liabilities as at December 31, 2022;

the portfolio of investments as at December 31, 2022;

the statement of operations for the year then ended;

the statement of changes in net assets for the year then ended;

the statement of cash flows for the year then ended;

the financial highlights for the year then ended; and

the notes to the financial statements, which include significant accounting policies and other
explanatory information.

Basis for opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor =s responsibilities for

the audit of the financial statements section of our report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis
for our opinion.
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Independence

We are independent of the Fund in accordance with the International Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (including International Independence Standards) issued by the International Ethics
Standards Board for Accountants (IESBA Code). We have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in
accordance with the IESBA Code.

Responsibilities of management for the financial statements

Management 1is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, and for such
internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for evaluating whether there are
conditions and events, considered in the aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about the Fund s
ability to continue as a going concern within one year after the date that the financial statements
are issued, or available to be issued, and disclosing, as applicable, matters related to this
evaluation unless the liquidation basis of accounting is being used by the Fund.

Auditor s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor ™s report
that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee
that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it
exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in
the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on
the basis of these financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain
professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to
fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the
override of internal control.

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an

opinion on the effectiveness of the Fund s internal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting

estimates and related disclosures made by management.
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Conclude on the appropriateness of management s use of the going concern basis of accounting and,
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Fund ”s ability to continue as a going concern.
IT we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our
auditor s report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures
are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up
to the date of our auditor ”s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Fund to
cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including
the disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope
and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.

Other matter

This report, including the opinion, has been prepared for and only for FirstCaribbean International
Bank and Trust Company (Cayman) Limited solely in its capacity as Trustee of the Fund in accordance
with the terms of our engagement letter and for no other purpose. We do not, in giving this opinion,
accept or assume responsibility for any other purpose or to any other person to whom this report is

shown or into whose hands it may come save where expressly agreed by our prior consent in writing.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
May 12, 2023
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR*S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF NIKKO AM GLOBAL CAYMAN LTD
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022

Opinion

We have audited the non-statutory financial statements of Nikko AM Global Cayman Ltd (““the company””) for the
year ended 31 March 2022 which comprise the Statement of Consolidated Comprehensive Income, Consolidated
Statement of Financial Position, Company Statement of Financial Position, Consolidated Statement of Changes in
Equity, Consolidated Cash Flow Statement and related notes, including the accounting policies in note 2. The non-
statutory financial statements have been prepared for the reasons set out in note 1.

In our opinion the non-statutory financial statements:

give a true and fair view of the state of the Group®s and of the Parent Company ”s affairs as at 31 March
2022 and of the Group®s profit for the year then ended; and

have been properly prepared in accordance with UK-adopted international accounting standards.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (““ISAs (UK)”?) and the terms

of our engagement letter dated 21 June 2022. Our responsibilities are described below. We have fulfilled our
ethical responsibilities under, and are independent of the Company in accordance with, UK ethical requirements
including the FRC Ethical Standard. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is a sufficient and

appropriate basis for our opinion.

Going concern

The directors have prepared the non-statutory financial statements on the going concern basis as they do not
intend to liquidate the Group or the Company or to cease their operations, and as they have concluded that the
Group and the Company®s financial position means that this is realistic. They have also concluded that there are
no material uncertainties that could have cast significant doubt over their ability to continue as a going
concern for at least a year from the date of approval of the non-statutory financial statements (““the going
concern period”?).

In our evaluation of the directors® conclusions, we considered the inherent risks to the Group and Company ”s
business model and analysed how those risks might affect the Group and Company s financial resources or ability
to continue operations over the going concern period.

Our conclusions based on this work:

we consider that the directors® use of the going concern basis of accounting in the preparation of the non-
statutory financial statements is appropriate;

we have not identified, and concur with the directors” assessment that there is not, a material uncertainty
related to events or conditions that, individually or collectively, may cast significant doubt on the Group®s
or the Company"s ability to continue as a going concern for the going concern period.

However, as we cannot predict all future events or conditions and as subsequent events may result in outcomes

that are inconsistent with judgements that were reasonable at the time they were made, the above conclusions are
not a guarantee that the Group or the Company will continue in operation.
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Fraud and breaches of laws and regulations — ability to detect
Identifying and responding to risks of material misstatement due to fraud

To identify risks of material misstatement due to fraud (““fraud risks””) we assessed events or conditions that
could indicate an incentive or pressure to commit fraud or provide an opportunity to commit fraud. Our risk
assessment procedures included:

Enquiring of directors and inspection of policy documentation as to the Company s high-level policies and
procedures to prevent and detect fraud, as well as whether they have knowledge of any actual, suspected or
alleged fraud.

Reading Board meeting minutes.
Considering remuneration incentive schemes and performance targets for management.

We communicated identified fraud risks throughout the audit team and remained alert to any indications of
fraud throughout the audit.

As required by auditing standards, and taking into account our overall knowledge of the control environment, we
perform procedures to address the risk of management override of controls, in particular the risk that management
may be in a position to make inappropriate accounting entries. On this audit we do not believe there is a fraud
risk related to revenue recognition because the calculation of the revenue is non-judgmental and straightforward,
with limited opportunity for manipulation.

We did not identify any additional fraud risks.

We also performed procedures including identifying journal entries to test based on risk criteria and comparing
the identified entries to supporting documentation. These included all post-closing journals.

Identifying and responding to risks of material misstatement due to non-compliance with laws and Regulations

We identified areas of laws and regulations that could reasonably be expected to have a material effect on the
financial statements from our general commercial and sector experience, and through discussion with the directors
and other management (as required by auditing standards), and from inspection of the Company®s regulatory and
legal correspondence and discussed with the directors and other management the policies and procedures regarding
compliance with laws and regulations.

We communicated identified laws and regulations throughout our team and remained alert to any indications of non-
compliance throughout the audit.

The potential effect of these laws and regulations on the financial statements varies considerably.

Firstly, the Company is subject to laws and regulations that directly affect the financial statements including
financial reporting legislation (including related companies legislation), and we assessed the extent of
compliance with these laws and regulations as part of our procedures on the related financial statement items.

Secondly, the Company is subject to many other laws and regulations where the consequences of non-compliance
could have a material effect on amounts or disclosures in the financial statements, for instance through the
imposition of fines or litigation or the loss of the Company®s authority to operate. We identified the following
areas as those most likely to have such an effect: certain aspects of company legislation recognising the
financial nature of the Company®s activities and its legal form.

Auditing standards limit the required audit procedures to identify non-compliance with these laws and regulations
to enquiry of the directors and other management and inspection of regulatory and legal correspondence, if any.
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Therefore, if a breach of operational regulations is not disclosed to us or evident from relevant correspondence,

an audit will not detect that breach.

Context of the ability of the audit to detect fraud or breaches of law or regulation

Owing to the inherent limitations of an audit, there is an unavoidable risk that we may not have detected some
material misstatements in the financial statements, even though we have properly planned and performed our audit
in accordance with auditing standards. For example, the further removed noncompliance with laws and regulations
is from the events and transactions reflected in the financial statements, the less likely the inherently limited
procedures required by auditing standards would identify it.

In addition, as with any audit, there remained a higher risk of non-detection of fraud, as these may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal controls. Our audit
procedures are designed to detect material misstatement. We are not responsible for preventing noncompliance or
fraud and cannot be expected to detect non-compliance with all laws and regulations.

Other information

The directors are responsible for the other information, which comprises the Directors® Report. Our opinion on
the non-statutory accounts does not cover the other information and, accordingly, we do not express an audit
opinion or any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

Our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether, based on our non-
statutory accounts audit work, the information therein is materially misstated or inconsistent with the non-
statutory accounts or our audit knowledge. Based solely on that work, we have not identified material
misstatements in the other information.

Directors” responsibilities

As explained more fully in their statement set out on page 5, the directors are responsible for: the preparation
of the non-statutory accounts, which are intended by them to give a true and fair view; such internal control as
they determine is necessary to enable the preparation of non-statutory financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; assessing the Group®s and the Company s ability to
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern; and using the going
concern basis of accounting unless they either intend to liquidate the company or to cease operations, or have no
realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditor®s responsibilities

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the non-statutory accounts as a whole are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue our opinion in an auditor s report.
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but does not guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance
with 1SAs (UK) will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or
error and are considered material if, individually or in aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of the non-statutory accounts.

A fuller description of our responsibilities is provided on the FRC s website at
www._frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities.

The purpose of our audit work and to whom we owe our responsibilities
Our report has been prepared for the Company solely in accordance with the terms of our engagement. It has been

released to the Company on the basis that our report shall not be copied, referred to or disclosed, in whole
(save for the Company ”s own internal purposes) or in part, without our prior written consent.
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Our report was designed to meet the agreed requirements of the Company determined by the Company ”s needs at the

time. Our report should not therefore be regarded as suitable to be used or relied on by any party wishing to
acquire rights against us other than the Company for any purpose or in any context. Any party other than the
Company who obtains access to our report or a copy and chooses to rely on our report (or any part of it) will do
so at its own risk. To the fullest extent permitted by law, KPMG LLP will accept no responsibility or liability
in respect of our report to any other party.

Carla Cassidy (Senior Statutory Auditor)
for and on behalf of KPMG LLP

Chartered Accountants

15 Canada Square

London E14 5GL

Date: 20 September 2022
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